TRENDS IN INEQUALITIES IN USE OF FAMILY PLANNING AMONG WOMEN OF REPRODUCTIVE AGE IN KENYA

BY MICHAEL EGALA JUMBA REG No: Q51/69077/2013

A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS IN MONITORING AND EVALUATION OF POPULATION AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES

NOVEMBER, 2019

DECLARATION

This masters research project is a product of my own thinking. It has not been used in any institution of learning or university, to acquire any degree or certificate.

CANDIDATE	SIGNATURE	DATE
MICHAEL EGALA JUMBA		
(Q51/69077/2013)		
Approval		

This research project has been submitted for examination with approval of university supervisors.

PROF. ALFRED AGWANDA	SIGNATURE	DATE
DR. ANDREW MUTUKU	SIGNATURE	DATE

DEDICATION

This research project is dedicated to my parents, Mr. Patrick and Mrs. Dorothy Jumba. Their efforts to ensure I went to school are greatly appreciated.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

When preparing this research project, several individuals gave me guidance. First and foremost, sincere thanks go to my supervisors, Prof. Alfred Agwanda and Dr. Andrew Mutuku for their guidance, corrections and encouragement in ensuring that the research project is completed successfully.

Secondly, I recognize the effort seen and unseen of the entire PSRI teaching and nonteaching staff. Their support in ensuring that our classes went on smoothly since the day we started the course were not in vain.

Special thanks go to my friends and college mates for their support, encouragement and correction-this was exhibited in their sharing of knowledge during group works and class discussions.

Sincere gratitude goes to my parents, Patrick and Dorothy Jumba, my brother, Moses and sisters Faith and Maureen for their moral support and encouragement during the course of my studies.

Lastly, I would like to thank Measure DHS for granting me access to their datasets among other valuable information concerning the data.

DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
ABSTRACT	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER ONE	
INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background of the study1.1.1 An overview of Kenya's Family Planning Programme	
1.2 Problem Statement	
1.3 Research Question	
1.4 Objectives of the study	
1.5 Justification of the Study	
1.6 Scope and Limitations of the Study	
1.7 Definition of Concepts	
CHAPTER TWO	
LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Theoretical Perspectives	
2.3 A Review of Methods used to Assess Family Planning Programmes	
2.4 Factors that influence contraceptive use among women	
2.5 Monitoring and Evaluation	
2.5.1 Indicators for Monitoring and Evaluation	
2.5.2 Key FP Programme Impact indicators and their Definitions	
2.6 Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) Number 3	
2.7 Summary of literature review	
2.8 Conceptual Framework	
2.9 Operational Framework	
2.10 Operational Hypotheses	
CHAPTER THREE	
METHODOLOGY	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Sources of Data for Evaluating Family Planning Programmes	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.3 Source of Data for the Study	45
 3.4 Methods of Data Analysis	46 47 48 50
3.5 Variables and their measurement	52
CHAPTER FOUR	56
TRENDS IN INEQUALITIES IN USE OF FAMILY PLANNING AMONG WOMEN OF REPRODUCTIVE AGE IN KENYA KDHS 2003, 2008/09 AND 2014	56
4.1 Introduction	56
4.2 Descriptive Characteristics of the Study Population	56
4.3 Bivariate Analysis Results of Proportion of women using	61
4.4 Logistic Regression Results presenting crude odds	67
4.5 Multilevel Logistic Regression Results presenting Adjusted Odds Ratios of Modern Contraceptive Use	72
CHAPTER FIVE	79
SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	79
5.1 Introduction	79
5.2 Summary of Findings	79
5.3 Conclusion	81
5.4 Recommendations	81
5.5 Recommendations for further research	82
REFERENCES	i
APPENDICES	X
Appendix A: Figure 1.1: Structure of the National Family Planning Programme	x
	x

ABSTRACT

This study focused on inequalities in use of family planning among women of reproductive age in Kenya with the main objective of the study being to assess the performance and thus the effectiveness of the national family planning programme. To assess the effectiveness of the FP programme, emphasis was placed on the extent the programme had narrowed down the inequalities gap by socioeconomic factors and by regions from the 2003 survey to the 2014 survey. This is a departure from the usual methods that place emphasis on averages of contraceptive prevalence levels and total fertility levels at the national level, to measure the effectiveness of the FP programme. The study used secondary data. The data were derived from three national surveys in Kenya conducted in the year 2003, the year 2008-09 and the year 2014. The survey captured information on background characteristics and health issues from a sample of women from the reproductive ages of 15 to 49 years. The attention of this study was on fecund women in Kenya. Methods of data analysis used were descriptive statistics, logistic regression and multilevel logistic regression. Bivariate analysis was used to test for associations between the dependent variable and independent variables through cross-tabulation and the Chi-square statistic. A logistic regression analysis was conducted to estimate the crude coverage gap with multilevel logistic regression being conducted to estimate the adjusted coverage gap by background factors among fecund women in Kenya. The technique was deployed to determine the extent of the inequality gap after controlling for confounding. This study established that the percentage of women using contraceptives significantly increased from the year 2003 to the 2014 survey. The most preferred contraceptive methods were the modern ones such as injections and pills with their sources being from government clinics or pharmacies and private clinics. Also, background characteristics at the individual, community and family planning programme level were seen to have a significant effect on modern contraceptive use by women. Results from the three surveys have confirmed that the direction of the national family planning programme's performance in increasing contraceptive use among women is positive-from 28 per cent in the 2003 survey, 30 per cent in 2008/09 survey and 39 per cent in 2014 survey. Background characteristics of a woman such as age, marital status, education, wealth index, employment status, region and place of residence were found to have a significant influence on use. Additionally, women who heard information on family planning through radio and television were more likely to use contraceptives compared to those who read newspapers/magazines. However, despite the improved use over time even by background characteristics, inequalities in use by socio-economic factors still exist in all the three surveys. Inequalities in modern contraceptive use were therefore found to be an important indicator to consider in assessing the performance and thus the effectiveness of the FP programme.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.2: Conceptual framework of family plannin	g demand and programme	e impact on fertility40
Figure 2.3: Operational model of the study		42

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: Descriptive characteristics of the study population during the three surveys	.59
Table 4.2: Bivariate analysis results of the proportion of women using modern contraceptive in the	
study	.65
Table 4.3: Crude odds of contraceptive use by background characteristics in 2003, 2008-9 and 2014	.70
Table 4.4: Adjusted odds ratios for contraceptive use among fecund women	.76

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

Since attaining her independence, Kenya has registered a steady increase in population (KNBS et al., 2015). In 1969, the population in Kenya was recorded at 10.9 million while 16.2 million was the population captured in 1979. In 1989, the population slightly increased to 23.2 million (CBS et al., 2004). In 1999 however, the population was recorded at 28.9 million a figure almost triple the population recorded in 1969 (KNBS and ICF Macro, 2010). A further increase was noted in 2009, with the population being recorded at 38.6 millionmarking a point where Kenya's population had increased fourfold (KNBS, et. al., 2015). In 2014, the population was projected to 43.0 million people in the Kenya Demographic and Health Survey of 2014 and is expected to continue to increase (KNBS et al., 2015). However, contrary to the upward trend of the national population growth, the fertility levels have reduced over time (CBS et al., 2004; KNBS, 2010; KNBS, et. al., 2015). According to data in the findings report of KDHS 2014, the total fertility level recorded in 1969 was 7.6 while that of 1979 was 7.8 registering a slight increase (CBS et al., 2004). However, since 1989, the fertility levels have steadily reduced from 6.7 to 5.0 and 4.8 in 1999 and 2009 respectively. A further decrease of 3.9 of fertility level was noted in the 2014 KDHS (KNBS, et al., 2015).

With a fertility level of 3.9 in 2014 still being considered to be high, it presents significant negative consequences for the health of women, children and economic development (Portner, 2011). In particular, Maura (2012) notes that with a high fertility rate of this nature, consequences such as poor health, maternal deaths as a result of unsafe abortions, poverty,

gender inequality, unemployment, environmental degradation and the inability to realize the Kenya Vision 2030 due to the overburden on the economy among other social services, await the nation. As a solution to the problem, Malthus (1803); supported by Bongaarts et al., (2012) proposed that the effective use of modern methods of birth control can greatly solve this problem. Effective contraceptive use can eliminate the number of maternal deaths as a result of unsafe abortion, can bring down the percentage of pregnancies that pose health risks to women's survival, can decrease the burden on national expenditures on health, education among other social services, including lessening the strain on natural resources and the environment broadly (Bongaarts, et al., 2012; Okech, 2012). Effective family planning programmes have been seen to increase modern methods of birth control to these ends (White and Speizer, 2007; Miller and Babiarz, 2014).

The Kenya national family planning programme is among the most robust in Sub-Saharan Africa, having been established in 1967 (Ngethe, 2014; Ojakaa 2008). It boasts several achievements with the ones at the centre being, having increased contraceptive use levels over the years and the gradual fertility decline not to mention, several policies meant to improve reproductive health care (Ministry of Health, 2012). Evidence in literature shows that CPR increased steadily from the year 2003 to 2014-these successes being attributed to the investments made in the national FP programme over the years, and now paying of (Ministry of Health, 2012; KNBS, et. al., 2015). However, despite these successes, some setbacks still linger (Ministry of Health, 2000; KNBS, et. al., 2015). The most notable of these setbacks being the unmet need for family planning remaining high, the high variations in use by background characteristics while the inequalities in use gap by socioeconomic factors and by regions still being wide (KNBS et al., 2015). As a consequence, policymakers

among other stakeholders are often motivated by these challenges to put more effort on helping even more individuals manage, with the aim of significantly lowering their fertility while the effectiveness of family planning programmes is given less attention thus continuing with the same cycle of systematical errors of setting new targets for increasing CPR while at the same time fostering on the lowering of TFR further (Portner, 2011).

Although it makes programmatic sense to set these new CPR and TFR targets with intentions of demonstrating progress, the limited availability of supporting evidence on the inequalities in contraceptive use by background factors of a woman has left a playground that is being exploited by both speculators and family planning programme critics to discredit the gains made by the family planning programme with their usually prejudiced views and assumptions (Portner, 2011; Johnson, et al., 2011). It is therefore of both programmatic, policy and monitoring and evaluation importance, to refocus our attention on the effectiveness of the national family planning programme, by assessing the inequality gaps as a way of measuring the coverage gap in birth control use by background factors among fecund women of all age groups (Muhoza, et al., 2013). This could reveal whether the inequality gap of each background factor (such as education, age, marital status, employment status, region and place of residence), is narrowing down or widening further through logistic regression and multilevel logistic regression analysis thus showing the direction of the performance of the national family planning programme (Muhoza, et al., 2013; Worku, et al., 2014; Ngome and Odimegwu, 2014; Ezeh, et al., 2009).

1.1.1 An overview of Kenya's Family Planning Programme

The national family planning programme is a Ministry of Health programme under the Directorate of Preventive Services in the Division of Family Health; nested under the Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, that was started in 1976 (See Figure 1.1 in Appendix A). The programme is being implemented at the counties, with support from both local and international partners (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016). The programme was designed to address several factors that have serious effects for the health of women and children as well as the Country's development namely: early marriage and early childbearing; the unmet need for family planning and the high total fertility level (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016). Other groups targeted by the programme are the youth, the unmarried, people living with disabilities, the poor and hard-to-reach groups such as the refugees and pastoral communities (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016).

The main aims of the programme are to enhance maternal health, children health and a reduction of fertility by: removing barriers that impede access to FP information and services such as cost, distance, religion, culture, rumours and misconception, provider bias and legal and medical regulations (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016). There are eight priority areas the national family planning programme focuses on. These are advocacy for family planning services, demand creation, focus on adolescents, the youth and vulnerable populations, capacity strengthening, incorporating of family planning into HIV and to other development programmes, family planning commodity security and monitoring and evaluation of family planning services (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016).

With regards to mandate, the programme at the Ministry of Health is mandated to develop: policies regarding quality family planning services, monitor effective and efficient family planning quality services, develop guidelines and strategies for family planning services, develop communication materials for counties to customize, build capacities of counties in the delivery/provision of family planning services and guiding research (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016).

Since the programme was started, several achievements have been realised. They include: the anchoring into law policies regarding population and development, and CPR having moved from 39% in 1978 to 58% at the moment. Moving forward, the goal of the programme is to increase CPR to 60% by 2020, 66% by the year 2030 and 70% by the year 2050. This means the programme is effective in increasing modern contraceptive use. However, with regards to efficiency, the programme is very expensive to implement i.e. it requires a bulk of funds to implement. Further, counties heavily rely on short-term methods such as injectables as opposed to long-term ones. To be more efficient and effective, the programme needs to focus and invest more in long-term methods while reducing the inequalities in use gap (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016).

The key indicators that are used to measure impact of the FP programme are: Contraceptive Prevalence Rate (CPR), the Unmet Need for Family Planning, Total Fertility Rate (TFR), Source of supply by method, Method Mix, Couple-year of Protection (CYP), Analysis of trend of modern contraceptive use, Number of Acceptors New to Modern Contraception and Knowledge of Benefits of Adequate Birth Spacing (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019).

Kenya's Family Planning (FP) programme is not only a key intervention for improving health; it is a key strategy for the achievement of international development goals at the national level. One of these goals is Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) number 3, that aims at achieving a healthy global population by promoting the well-being of everyone (Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit, 2016; WHO, 2019). Under this SDG one target is relevant to this study. According to target 3.7, universal access to reproductive health services such as family planning should have been realised by the year 2030. This also includes incorporating reproductive health into national strategies and development programmes (WHO, 2019; FP2020, 2019).

1.2 Problem Statement

While there has been continued commitment in the promotion and provision of adequate reproductive health services, a number of background factors of a woman such as poverty, a lack of empowerment and social-cultural beliefs and practices hinder the demand for and utilization of reproductive health care (Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation; Ministry of Medical Services, 2009). According to KDHS 2014, the demand for family planning services varies by background factors of women such as age, education, wealth index and by regions. For example, the region with the highest demand for family planning services was the Eastern region at 83 per cent, followed by Central at 82 per cent (KNBS et al., 2015).

Although significant achievements in family planning programme efforts are in evidence, there have not been parallel gains in knowledge about the relative importance of the inequalities in use by background factors of a woman as a measure of programme effectiveness (Tsui and Hermalin, 1997; Johnson, et al., 2011). Kenya's national family planning programme has often been assessed by setting new targets to succeed earlier ones, with more attention being accorded to a reduction in births and increase in contraceptive use levels-a fallacious way of assessing performance thus effectiveness of the programme (Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation; Ministry of Medical Services, 2009). This is because these targets are based on averages that give less attention to inequalities in use

which is a key objective of UHC and target 3.7 of SDGs. This calls for a paradigm shift from a focus on assessing the national family planning programme using fertility levels and contraceptive use levels, at the national level, but also to focus on inequalities in use by background characteristics of women to measure the coverage gap and thus performance and the effectiveness of the programme across all population segments over time.

Evidence available in literature to support this kind of research shows that Sharma et al (2011) conducted a study in Nepal, that used multilevel logistic regression analysis of background characteristics of married women nested within clusters to study the effect of ethnicity on contraceptive use with the main objective of the study being to evaluate the impact of the Nepal national family planning programme. Evidence from this study showed that modern birth control use varied significantly across clusters and with regards to ethnicity. This information suggested that the family planning programme efforts were reaching some groups more than others (Sharma, et al., 2011).

Because Kenya is a signatory to the global development agenda; the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the current focus of all national development programmes are on realising these goals. Of relevance to this study is SDG number three that endeavours at achieving healthy lives and promoting the well-being of everyone in all ages. One of the targets of this SDG is target 3.7 whose main objective is to realise universal access to reproductive health services among them family planning by the year 2030. In this regard, this study sought to establish to what extent is everybody who needs family planning services getting the family planning services according to ICPD plus 5 and target 3.7 of SDG number 3. To do this, inequalities in use were examined, using socio-economic factors

of a woman and community variables as tracer indicators used to measure the coverage gap (WHO, 2019; UNFPA, 2019).

1.3 Research Question

i. How did the national family planning programme perform in terms of narrowing down the inequalities in use of modern contraceptives among women in Kenya (2003 to 2014)?

1.4 Objectives of the study

The general objective of the study was assessing the performance of Kenya's national family planning programme by examining the inequalities by socioeconomic and community-level factor of modern contraceptive use among women from the year 2003 to the year 2014.

The specific objectives were:

i. To establish trends in factors that are associated with modern contraceptive use among women in Kenya between (2003and 2014).

ii. To estimate trends in the inequalities in use as a measure of the coverage gap in access to modern contraceptives between 2003 and 2014.

1.5 Justification of the Study

This study was both of policy and monitoring and evaluation relevance. From a policy point of view, the findings of this study have provided evidence required to formulate appropriate strategies that will enable the Ministry of Health to realize target 3.7 of SDG number 3 that seeks to ensure universal access to reproductive health services such as family planning, are

achieved by the year 2030. Particularly, this is to be facilitated by target setting and refocusing the FP programme efforts to ensure that FP needs of every woman are met without any financial discomfort (United Nations, 2014).

With regards to relevance to monitoring and evaluation, the national family planning programme is not only a core reproductive health programme that focuses on the health of the mother and child and fertility reduction; it is a development programme. Therefore, by assessing the performance of the programme, we measure the extent to which the programme is delivering desired results. Further, the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) number 3.7 focuses on achieving optimal access to family planning services by the year 2030. As such, the focus on the performance of the national family planning programme should not only be on averages of modern contraceptive use levels but also how various groups vary by other forms of inequality. If we assess the performance could be measured. This should give us an idea of the coverage gap (See section 1.7 on the definition of coverage gap). Understanding the coverage gap is important because at the end of the day, if the family planning programme is effective, then people at the lower level should have the same use levels as those at the upper level.

1.6 Scope and Limitations of the Study

The study focused on all fecund women in Kenya in the three surveys. The study estimated inequalities in use of modern contraceptives by background factors among women from Kenya Demographic and Health Survey (KDHS) data, as a way of assessing to what extent the national FP programme performance has improved over time. The data that were used for purposes of this study were derived from three national surveys, KDHS 2003, KDHS

2008-09 and KDHS 2014. The 2003 KDHS data was used as the baseline for the study, while the KDHS 2008-2009 data and KDHS 2014 data were used to establish the trends of inequalities from the baseline. Thereafter, inequality levels were examined to establish whether they were narrowing down or widening.

With regards to limitations, This study did not include family planning service delivery factors such as supply, quality of service delivery among others, factors which are part of the programme's inputs. Also, there being inadequate knowledge on the history of programme operations in each community, it prevents proper alignment of programme inputs with each woman's fertility history (Hermalin, 2003).

To address the constraints above, a multilevel logistic regression modelling technique was used for the analysis, whereby factors that wield influence on programme variables were introduced into the model in a series of equations of background characteristics of interest (Hermalin, 2003). Also, the confounding effect of invariant factors unique to each geographic area, and which could affect the outcome of the study was largely controlled for (Hermalin, 2003; PSU, 2017; LaMorte and Sullivan, 2017; McDonald, 2014; Yu, et al., 2015).

1.7 Definition of Concepts

Contraceptive Prevalence level/Rate (CPR): A family planning programme indicator used to measure the number of women who reported using or having used any modern contraceptive method at a particular point in time.

Contraceptive use: Refers to the actual use of any type of modern contraceptives.

Modern contraceptive methods: Modern contraceptive use by method type e.g. Injections or pill.

Contraception: Birth control by way of using devices such as diaphragm, IUD, condom, drugs or surgery.

Unmet need: A family planning programme indicator for measuring women who are not using any modern contraceptive method, yet they need to use modern contraceptives.

Kenya's family planning programme: All organized activities by government and partners that are designed to promote the use of family planning services within Kenya.

Monitoring: Routine collection and recording of programme data for purposes of tracking how well a project or Programme is being implemented.

Evaluation: Measure how successfully a programme or project achieved its desired objectives and overall goal.

Baseline data: In this study, it's the reference point upon which the assessment was based.

Coverage gap: The inequality gap between the highest and the lowest users of modern contraceptives by socioeconomic factors and by regions in all three surveys.

Inequality gap: The size of the gap between the best modern contraceptive users and the worst users by background factors in all the three surveys.

Family Planning: In this study, it refers to the use of modern contraceptives to limit or space pregnancies. Enables both individual and married women to plan their desired number of children by spacing and limiting of births.

CHAPTER TWO LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

The chapter presents literature reviews on how family planning programmes have been assessed. It comprises of the theoretical perspectives, a review of methods used to assess family planning programmes, factors that influence contraceptive use among women, monitoring and evaluation, indicators for monitoring and evaluation, key FP programme impact indicators and their definitions, sustainable development goal 3, a summary of literature review, the conceptual framework, operational framework and lastly, the operational hypotheses.

2.2 Theoretical Perspectives

Several theories have been instrumental in explaining changes in population in different contexts. This study relied on the theory of demographic transition.

The theory of demographic transition has been extensively used to characterize stages of fertility and mortality and their levels as consequences of development or modernization (Tietelbaum 1975). According to the first stage of the theory, a country suffers from high deaths and birth rates (Nielsen, 2016). As a consequence, the population is kept low by Malthusian "preventatives" such as diseases, famine, war and pestilence (Malthus, 1803; Nielsen, 2016). In addition to the Malthusian preventatives, family planning was poor; the population relied on traditional contraceptive methods that were ineffective, coupled with little medical and technological advancements that contributed to the high death rates (Kirk, 1996). Since children were seen as "labour commodities" (more hands to till the land for food), and there being no other option to check high death rates, the high births was a

strategy that seemed to work at the time (Tietelbaum 1975). During the second stage of the theory, a country experiences a period of natural population increase, a consequence of crude birth rates remaining constant, but with rapidly declining crude death rates (Lesthaeghe, 2010). Reasons for the increase include: deaths rates decline due to better sanitation, living conditions, medical (including reproductive health solutions) and technological advancements begin to improve (Bruijin 2006).

Stage three of the theory is marked by a gradual fall in births towards equilibrium with low death rates a consequence of individuals beginning to consciously control their fertility (Tietelbaum 1975). Some of the reasons being attributed to gradual fall are: standards of living having increased, women are educated therefore know family planning benefits, women started working, therefore, have less time to take care of children resulting in fewer children (Lee, 2003). Besides, the effect of industrialization and urban lifestyle begins to influence the family unit where the high cost of education, forces parents to have fewer children while fewer children are favoured to help in family businesses rather than for purposes of labour (Bongaarts, et al., 2012). During this stage, there is a lot of information on family planning and the accompanying benefits are circulating through various media, while variety, number and access to modern contraceptive commodities also improve compared to the previous stages (Bongaarts, et al., 2012; Nielsen, 2016).

In stage four of the demographic transition theory, birth rates and death rates converge creating a "stable size" population that is widely referred to as the post-industrial society, with delayed degenerative diseases, resulting in a stable population but with more ageing people (Warf, 2010). Reasons for this population trend include: extensive knowledge on family planning benefits and contraceptive commodities, individuals have internalized the

need to lower their fertilities, women are more empowered than ever before, therefore play a more pronounced role in decision making especially with regards to number of children, the effects of industrialization and urbanization influence on the family unit and the rise of individualism and materialism (Lehr, 2009; Lutz and Qiang, 2002).

2.3 A Review of Methods used to Assess Family Planning Programmes

Like the programmes themselves, the evaluative techniques for family planning programmes have also evolved over time in response to available data, the questions posed, and the increased understanding of the dynamics of fertility control on the individual, community and national level (Tsui & Hermalin, 1997). To be more responsive, strong evaluation evidence is needed to inform these country-level family planning strategies (Ilene, et al., 2014). For this to be a reality, measures of performance of family planning programme efforts give insight on the current context of the programme environment (Bertrand, et al., 1996). A diverse of methods and approaches exist for measuring family planning programme effort, which are unique in several ways such as in terms of the types of outcomes measured, the number of assumptions required, among other operational data requirements (Bertrand, et al., 1996).

At the onset of family planning programme efforts (roughly 1960 to the early 1970s), the emphasis was on developing the supply to meet the level of existing demand, recruiting and training personnel, developing service points, setting up appropriate supervision and reporting procedures, and so on (Tsui and Hermalin,1997). Methods of evaluating family planning programmes tended to put more emphasis quantitative outputs at the programme monitoring level, for instance, new couple-year of protection (CYP), new acceptors or outcomes at the population level such as total fertility levels and contraceptive prevalence levels (Bertrand, et al., 1996). In essence, positive results of the aforementioned parameters were translated to mean that family planning programmes were having an impact (Hermalin, 2003).

Crude rates, standardizations and decompositions. The very crudest method that has been used in ascertaining the impact of a family planning programme on fertility rates is simply to compare rates before and after implementation of a programme. However, such a naive approach ignored, among other things, the effects of changing age structure of the population or changes in nuptiality (Haaga, 1985). These methods which do not directly employ any family planning programme-level data used standardised demographic techniques to control the influence of a single or several variables to assess the effect of another variable (Hermalin, 2003). For example, Yoo (2014), conducted a study in South Korea that sought to explain the patterns of fertility by the level of education. The study used demographic decomposition techniques and cohort parity progression ratios by level of education to estimate Cohort fertility for women born between 1926 and 1970. Results from this research revealed differences in fertility by educational attainment; with the trend being a gradual decline over time. Women educational attainment, therefore, became an important factor in the further decline in fertility. Data for the study was obtained from the Korean census conducted between 1970 and 2010.

Experimental designs were partially used in the initial stages of family planning programme evaluation, with evidence suggesting that well designed experiments have the ability to provide reliable insight as to whether a programme's efforts are yielding desired results while also providing reliable information on the levels of influence of those effects

(Hermalin, 2003; Bongaarts, et al., 2012; Kirby, 2008; Schultz, 2005). A good example of experimental designs is the famous Matlab experiment of Bangladesh where 141 villages were part of an experiment that involved a treatment and control group. During the experiment from 1977 to 1996, half of the villages were covered by a door-to-door reproductive health care outreach programme and maternal and child health care services. Results indicated that fertility declined in the programme villages compared to the control villages by 1996 (Joshi, 2007; Schultz, 2009).

Quasi-experiments. Other techniques used were data at the level of the village, or service area of a clinic, or other geographic units (Haaga, 1985). Though it may be impossible to assign different areas randomly to experimental treatments or control groups, researchers could take advantage of the variation that exists among roughly similar units in the timing of introduction, intensity or type of family planning programme operating in them. Multivariate statistical methods could then be used to hold constant (account for variance in fertility outcomes caused by) some of the non-programme factors. The independent effects of the programme variables on fertility could then be estimated, subject to the completeness and correctness of the specification of the causal model used (Haaga, 1985). For example, Hennink and Clements, (2004) conducted a study in Pakistan on franchised family planning clinics to determine the impact among the urban poor. The study assumed a quasi-experimental approach to ascertain the impact of new family planning, amongst married women in urban poor areas of six secondary cities of Pakistan.

Substitution effects. A more difficult problem has to do with estimating the degree to which a programme substitutes public for private sources of modern contraceptives or modern for

traditional contraceptives (Haaga, 1985). Part of the service statistics of the programme represent such substitution rather than a net increase in the total amount of contraception, and some of what should be attributed to the programme is not measured, so the issue can be dropped (Haaga, 1985). Since a public programme may have had a "catalytic" effect on couples who do not get their contraceptive supplies from the programme, by spreading the ideas of fertility regulation, some analysts have ignored the substitution effect or progress in techniques of evaluation has been motivated by the research for a more sophisticated way of handling this problem (Haaga, 1985). For instance, in a study done by Angeles, et al., (2004), the estimated effect of education on fertility was compared from a simple model that treated education as an external factor while allowing schooling to be an endogenic factor of an individual woman. Results showed how education of a woman as a determinant factor in reducing fertility has been overstated in Indonesia. The results would have been different, had a naive model been used, that did not account for the effect of a woman's education status.

Trend analysis. A preliminary approach to this problem is what the UN manual calls "trend analysis": graphing fertility rates against years, then fitting separate lines to the points from pre-programme years and to the points for programme years, to see if the rate of decline has increased (Haaga, 1985). The foundation of trend analysis is on demographic data through which a time series is used to make observations on the fertility trend to make conclusions about programme effects (Hermalin, 2003). The fundamental component of this method lies in the projection of fertility rates before an intervention is initiated, after which, the data that was projected is compared with observed programme data-with the difference between the two being concluded to be the impact of the programme (Hermalin, 2003). For example,

Neeru, et al. (2003) conducted a study in Uganda whose primary data was derived from the 1997 and 1999 Delivery of Improved Services for Health Evaluation Survey while data from the 1995 Demographic and Health Survey was used for additional analysis. The study sought to examine how multi-media behaviour change communication campaigns influence women's and men's use of modern contraceptives using a time trend analysis.

The second phase of family planning programme evaluation evolution was (roughly between the mid-1970s to mid-1980s). This phase is characterised by family planning programmes having becoming complex in their structure thus undermining the use of acceptor-based approaches to measure impact (Hermalin, 2003). Besides, family planning programmes were increasingly asked to provide more detailed data of programme interaction with the socialcultural and economic contexts in the developing world in mind (Tsui & Hermalin, 1997). For instance, in an article by Ross, et al. (1986), an analytical approach by Bongaarts and Potter was used to study background factors that influence fertility among three populations in Kathmandu Valley of Nepal that comprised the following characteristics: the influence of caste system, place of residence as urban and urban fringe and users and non-users of modern contraceptive methods. Longitudinal data for this assessment were derived from two national surveys: the Nepal Fertility Survey of 1976 (part of the World Fertility Survey) and Nepal Contraceptive Prevalence Survey of 1981.

Components models. Another method that has been used to assess the impact of FP interventions at the macro level is by using simulation or "components" models to disaggregate sources of fertility decline or differences between current rates and those that would prevail with natural fertility in a population (Haaga, 1985). First, estimates are obtained of the total amount of contraception (from all sources) that must have been

practised to bring about an observed fertility decline. Next, programme service statistics and assumed continuation and failure rates for different programme-supplied contraceptives are applied to simulated cohorts of women. Finally, the sensitivity of the estimates of the net impact of the programme can be tested by varying assumptions about induced abortion, private sector contraceptive supply, breastfeeding, and other traditional contraceptive measures (Haaga, 1985). Simulation models appear to be useful in programme evaluation when at least some of the intermediate steps in the causal chain linking programme output to demographic or health outcomes are known fairly precisely and are readily quantifiable (Haaga, 1985). For example, in a study conducted by Tumlinson, et al. (2013), simulations by customers in the study exposed the barriers to contraceptive use in Kisumu County of western Kenya. The study used qualitative data drawn from simulated client visits to establish programmatic barriers to modern contraceptive use from a sample of 19 reproductive health service centres. Evidence from the simulated client reports revealed inadequacies in provider competence, with the main one being poor relations between service providers and clients. Also, it was noted that service providers were present occasionally during normal working hours and charged informal fees for services rendered. As a solution to the problem, one of the recommendations made by the study was service providers to undergo customer relations training.

Multivariate analyses. The second phase of family planning programme evaluation was also marked by the use of several multivariate analyses that took into account geographic subdivisions, social, economic and cultural factors as a way of estimating programme impact (Hermalin, 2003). In order for one to evaluate a programme using this method, the following conditions have to be met: one must select some geographic division within a

country or territory, one ought to have measures of programme input (often obtained from programme monitoring records), one ought to select independent variables that reflect socioeconomic characteristics of the selected geographic area and a desired outcome variable of study with the geographic level chosen being dependent on availability of data and scope of the analysis (Hermalin, 2003). For example, Angeles et al. (1996) conducted a meta-analysis to examine the impact of family planning programmes on three key outcomes namely: fertility preferences, contraceptive method choice and fertility were delivering desired results. A broad geographic area was selected and covered countries with large populations such as Morocco, Tunisia, Tanzania, Kenya, Zimbabwe, Bolivia, the Philippines, Peru, China, Indonesia and India. In addition to the selected geographic units, a set of explanatory variables were also used with data being drawn from Demographic and Health Surveys with the method of data analyses being Multivariate analysis.

In this latest phase, of family planning programme evaluation evolution, (since the mid-1980s to date), family planning programmes have become much more sophisticated in combining attention both to the determinants of demand, and the ways of influencing it, and in giving closer scrutiny to the components of the supply environment and their effects on FP programmes (Tsui and Hermalin, 1997). During this phase and in particular the year 1984, Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) arrived and with this arrival, begun what was termed as "full marketing strategy" in the assessment of family planning programme effects (Hermalin, 2003). Full marketing strategy in the context of family planning programmes evaluation means the tracking of how elements of programme input relate to the utilization of services while at the same time taking account of the characteristics of the target population (Lepham and Simmons, 1987). The main purpose of the DHS programme is to provide governments, among other stakeholders with highly, reliable and quality data on a myriad of issues which can be of assistance in the planning and design of programmes, and the monitoring and evaluation of the programmes (Martin, 1997). For example, in a study conducted by Justin and Ilene, (2007) in Zambia, Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) data, collected between 2001 and 2002 were used to answer questions relating to Zambia's success in fostering modern contraceptive use.

Multilevel regression methods. Multilevel regression methods are founded upon the principle of not having a treatment and control group (Bertrand, et al., 1996). In this methodology, family planning programme inputs are measured at a higher level i.e. at the country or community level while taking into account social, economic and cultural factors at these levels that are seen to wield influence on the behaviour of the target population; after which, individual-level characteristics that affect the outcome of interest are included to the model thus allowing for interactions across levels (Hermalin, 2003). For example, Tuoane, et al., (2003) conducted a study in which a multilevel model was used to identify and examine background factors seen as affecting modern contraceptive use and method choice of women in Lesotho. The study relied on data from three sources namely: the 1995 Lesotho Safe Motherhood Initiative Women's Health Survey; information captured in the 1997/98 Lesotho family planning facilities survey and Focus Group Discussions (FDGs) with FP commodity users. In another study by Mishra, (2011), data captured during the Nepal Demographic Health Survey (NDHS) 2006 was used. Thereafter, a multilevel logistic regression model was deployed to estimate use among 10,793 married women of reproductive age nested within 264 clusters. Individual, household and programme variables

were included in the multilevel logistic regression model was fitted into statistical software to generate the results.

Proximate determinants framework. John Bongaarts developed a simple statistical framework in which he argued that fertility is a consequence of direct factors such as marital status, age at marriage and abortion while indirect factors that comprise socio-economic factors such as education and income only influence fertility in proxy by modifying the direct factors (Boerma and Weir, 2005; Conley, et al., 2007). For example, Islam, et al., (1998) conducted a study that examined the proximate determinants of fertility in Bangladesh using the Bongaarts framework. The study sought to assess four proximate determinants of fertility namely: contraception, marriage, induced abortion and lactational infecundity and their influence on fertility. Data for the study was drawn from the 1993/94 Bangladesh Demographic and Health Survey.

This section of the literature review looked at how family planning programmes were evaluated in chronological order from the earliest methods to the very latest method-the proximate determinants framework. This study adopted the proximate determinants framework method and combined it with the multi-level regression method. Discussed below, are background factors which influence contraceptive use among women and which are fundamental components in the proximate determinants framework method.

2.4 Factors that influence contraceptive use among women

Education. Education is among the variables that have been widely used to measure the empowerment of women by way of shaping their attitudes and increasing their knowledge on the benefits of having small families (Larsson and Stanfors, 2014). Evidence in literature

shows that women with education are expected to delay marriage, and childbearing thus have lower fertility levels than those with less education (Larsson and Stanfors, 2014). For example, results from research conducted in Ethiopia seem to concur with this fact. In the study, 27% of women who had at least secondary education has a need in spacing that had not been met. This, however, increased to 53% among uneducated women. The need in limiting that had not been met increased with no education from 12% in women with secondary education or higher, to 36%, those having less or no education (Antenane, 2002).

Occupation. Evidence in literature shows the employment of a woman is correlated with increased knowledge, more exposure and thus use of modern birth control (Martin, 2014). An employed woman is regarded as empowered woman-having information of what happens around her and equally, having the ability to make decisions concerning her life, household such as the number of babies she prefers to have (Martin, 2014). Evidence in various studies shows that the employment of women has an association with women having small families. A key ingredient in having small families is using modern birth control methods (Anguko, 2014). Indeed Gupta (2013) notes that childbearing can take a toll on women's labour-force participation, productivity, and lifetime earnings, thus reducing their financial independence.

Place of residence. The place where an individual resides, whether rural or urban, has been found to influence how they use contraceptives. (Jesman, 2013). These variations in use may be caused by factors such as differences in infrastructure and the availability of reproductive health services-consequences of which can either influence the use or limit the methods available (Martin, 2014). Urban areas, for instance, offer a wide range of modern birth control methods by virtue of having more facilities that offer services and are easily

accessible compared to rural areas (Chitereka and Busiku, 2010). Evidence of this reality can be seen in a study conducted by Remare and Catherine (2012), where women who were resident 5 km or less to the nearest health facility had a higher probability at 26%, of using modern contraceptives than those residents at distances over 5 km. (Remare and Catherine, 2012).

Region of residence. Despite birth limiting and spacing having increased in Kenya over the years, regional differences in use still linger (Murungaru, et al., 2013). Evidence in the Kenya Demographic and Health Survey (KDHS) of 2008-09 shows that use of modern contraceptives was highest in Nairobi and Central provinces while very low in North Eastern regions at only 3 per cent (Murungaru, et al., 2013). In another study conducted by Asiimwe et.al, (2014) in Uganda, regional differences and use was among the variables that were studied. In this study, regional differences in use were influenced by community-level social-cultural values and beliefs like the value attached to a child, the presence and quality of service by reproductive health centres, the remoteness of the area including nature of transport routes (Asiimwe, et al., 2014).

Age. According to Dawit (2013), the likelihood of younger women using is higher because they have high sexual exposure and a better understanding of various methods of contraception. On the contrary, with older age fecundity is low with less frequent sexual contact, reducing motivation to use (Dawit, 2013). For example, evidence from a study in Malawi revealed that modern birth control use increased with the age of the woman peaking at ages 40-44 then the trend slightly reversing in the age group 45-49. Contraceptive use level was lowest in ages 15-19 years. This was caused by the fact that most women in the age group had just entered matrimony, an institution that is viewed as purely designed for producing children (Martin, 2014).

Wealth Index. In countries where there exist wide socio-economic gaps between the wealthy and those living in poverty, the well-being of those living in poverty including their health is usually in jeopardy (Stephen, et al., 2014). The overall inequality levels within such a country increase health vulnerabilities leading to a decrease in life expectancy for the poor (Dias and Oliveira, 2015). For instance, results from a study in Malawi indicate that women in the richest wealth category had ease of limiting their births to four children per woman, while achieving the same target is still a tall order among poorest wealth category (Adebowale, et al., 2014).

Marital Status. Being in marriage has been seen to influence higher incidences of sexual contact therefore, higher use in modern birth control methods to limit and space births (Dawit, 2013). According to literature, this is because marriage allows for the onset of a higher likelihood of conception (Saira, 2014). Populations with low age during the first marriage tend to experience early childbirths and thus have high fertility levels (African Population and Health Research Center, 2013). In these scenarios, contraceptive use is motivated by factors such as partners communicating about their desired number of children than in any other marital status groups (Dawit, 2013).

Method Mix. Eric, et al. (2007) defines method mix as the percentage of individuals using represented by each contraceptive by method type. It is an important indicator in measuring the quality of care, with evidence in the literature showing that an over-emphasis on contraceptive prevalence by family planning research with little attention being given to

method mix (Bertrand, et al., 2000). Contraceptive preferences by different methods vary by factors such as regions and country residence. In developing countries, for example, the preferred method types are short term ones such as injections, the pill, IUD and female sterilization (Eric, et al., 2007).

2.5 Monitoring and Evaluation

Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) are two different concepts that support one another (Niyivuga, Alfred, and Tuyishime, 2019). Monitoring involves tracking progress regarding previously identified plans or objectives, using data easily captured and measured on an ongoing basis (Djalaliniaet al., 2014; Jamaal, 2018; Maendo, James, and Kamau, 2018). While monitoring most frequently makes use of quantitative data, monitoring qualitative data is also possible (Perrin, 2012). Monitoring is carried out for various reasons namely; for internal use by project managers and staff to better understand and track how things are proceeding; internal organisational use, at the regional, national and/or international headquarters level so the agency/organisation/government entity can track a project's or activity's status against plans and expectations, for planning and management purposes and to address accountability requirements of an agency/organisation/government entity's board, funders including the public (Kimweli, 2013). Besides, monitoring is undertaken to address external requirements for compliance and control, such as donor demands for reporting and accountability (Perrin, 2012).

Monitoring could take other forms that are outside organisational needs (Perrin, 2012; UNDP, 2009). For example, monitoring could include citizen report cards concerning public services, advocacy services of many organisations that may track corruption practices,

among others (Perrin, 2012). However, monitoring alone is insufficient for drawing conclusions about attribution or for identifying the reasons why changes have or have not taken place (Perrin, 2012; Tuckermann, 2007). Again, monitoring alone is not sufficient to show the direction an intervention is headed, whether results will be positive or negative; this, therefore, makes evaluation relevant and a necessity (Perrin, 2012; IUCN, 2008).

Evaluation involves the systematic, evidence-based inquiry that seeks to interrogate any aspect of a policy, programme or project (Perrin, 2012; UNDP, 2009). Evaluation uses a wide variety of qualitative and quantitative techniques to provide more comprehensive data regarding the intervention context (Perrin, 2012). Evaluations are undertaken for many different purposes and take several forms (Perrin, 2012). The following are some examples of evaluations: (i) needs assessment; involves assessing the needs or problem situation; (ii) Process evaluation: describe working of an intervention, and are carried out partway through implementation and is intended to improve performance during the subsequent steps of an intervention; (vi) Impact evaluation: seeks to attribute change on a target population to an intervention (Perrin, 2012).

When M&E are combined, they become one fundamental asset to encourage continuous learning for designing better development programmes (Chachu, 2019). Advantages of conducting good M&E include: promoting transparency, fostering accountability, improvement in management and performance regarding effectiveness, efficiency interventions and value for money (Chachu, 2019). Additionally, Essa (2014) outlined the features of successful M&E, as M&E that: is incorporated into an intervention during the early planning stages; focuses on outcomes relevant to the aims and objectives of the intervention and above all, examine them efficiently and without bias (Essa, 2014). When
it's all said and done, the ultimate aim of M&E is to learn what has worked, and what has not, by using the twelfth (12th) component of a functional M&E system (UNAIDS, 2009; Essa, 2014).

2.5.1 Indicators for Monitoring and Evaluation

At the centre of monitoring and evaluation are indicators (Bloom, 2008; Rioux, 2011; Naswa, et al., 2015). In simple terms, an indicator provides a sign or signal that something is true (Bloom, 2008). In addition to measuring programmatic aspects, indicators ought to reflect the objectives and stated goals of an intervention. They demonstrate that activities were implemented as planned, or the intervention influenced a change in the desired outcome (Bloom, 2008).

When choosing indicators for M&E, they need to be planned and selected for all intervention levels namely: inputs, activities, outputs, outcome level and programme impact level (Lamhauge, Lanzi, and Agrawala, 2013). Indicators provide parameters against which to assess project/programme performance and achievement in terms of quality (how many or how much?), time (when?) target group (who?) and quality (how good?) (Rioux, 2011). Indicators can be quantitative (number of people, number of ha, percentage of adoptions), semi-quantitative (scale, ranking) or qualitative (perceptions, opinions or categories) (Rioux, 2011). Measuring and assessing the impact of an intervention through appropriate indicators is a challenging task (Naswa et al., 2015). M&E indicators enable comparison with respect to a baseline for different periods, as well as comparisons across interventions (Naswa et al., 2015).

Choosing indicators depends on the processes that have to be monitored and how accurately the indicators capture the progress (Naswa et al., 2015). M&E indicators focusing on the process and intermediate targets help identify unanticipated problems. This means that corrective action is possible while the programme or project is ongoing, instead of realising that at the actual output is far away from the desired output at the end of the programme (Naswa et al., 2015). Choosing M&E indicators entails several considerations among them: the baseline survey data, priorities based on the availability of resources, tools to be used during measurements, resource requirements and data sources and assumptions. Another important consideration when selecting indicators is the context; local or national (Naswa et al., 2015). In summing up, monitoring and evaluation cannot exist minus appropriate indicators (UNAIDS, 2010).

2.5.2 Key FP Programme Impact indicators and their Definitions

Several indicators have been used to measure the impact of family planning programmes depending on the various evaluation objectives. However, this study will focus on the six discussed below (K4HEALTH, 2019; MEASURE Evaluation, 2019).

The first indicator is Contraceptive Prevalence Level (CPR). CPR is the proportion of women of reproductive age who are using a modern contraceptive method (or whose partners are using) at a certain point in time. The indicator is reported for women aged 15 to 49, or who are either married or in a union. (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019). The data requirements for this indicator are the overall number of reproductive-age women, by marital status; and of these, the number that are using modern contraceptives at the moment. Data sources for the indicator are population-based surveys. Besides, the indicator also

provides a measure of population coverage of contraceptive use, taking into account all sources of supply and all contraceptive methods; It has been popular in measuring the performance of family planning programmes at the population level (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019).

The second main indicator that has extensively been used to measure the impact of family planning programmes is the *Unmet Need for family planning*. This indicator is defined as the per cent of fertile women in a union or marriage who desire to either postpone or terminate childbearing but are not using any contraceptive method at the moment (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019). The total of number of or overall percentage or number of women with an unmet need for family planning (U) comprises those with an unmet need for spacing (US) and those with an unmet need for limiting (UL) (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019). The indicator is calculated as follows: UL + US = U (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019; CBS, 1996).

With regards to data sources for the indicator, population-based surveys are used. This indicator captures data on women at risk of pregnancy with a need for FP because they plan to space or limit births in the future, but do not use any conventional contraceptives. Such women have an "unmet demand" or "unmet need" for FP and are the logical primary audience of programme efforts (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019; CBS, 1996). This indicator was not used in the analyses of this research (CBS, 1996).

The third indicator used to measure the impact of FP programmes is the *Total Fertility Rate* (*TFR*). Total Fertility Level (TFR) is the average number of live births women would have if they are lucky enough to survive all their reproductive years. Total Fertility Level is estimated using age-specific birth levels. Age-specific birth level is the number of births

with an increase of five years in reproductive years. TFR is calculated by adding up all agespecific birth rates for a population and multiplying by five (CBS, 1996).

The data Requirements for this indicator are a current schedule of age-specific fertility rates (ASFRs), for one- or five-year age groups while the data Sources are vital statistics (numerator only), population censuses or surveys at the population level (CBS, 1996).

With regards to use of this indicator, TFR is the most widely used fertility measure in FP programme impact evaluations for two main reasons: (1) it is unaffected by differences or changes in age-sex composition, and (2) it provides an easily understandable measure of hypothetical completed fertility (MEASURE Evaluation, 2019; CBS, 1996). The indicator has been widely mentioned in the reviewed literature this study but was not used during the analysis.

Trend analysis is the fourth indicator that has been widely used to measure the impact of family planning programmes (Bartrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1994). However, before discussing this indicator, we must flash back to M&E and distinguish the two types of outcomes within the category of population-based evaluation: intermediate and ultimate (long-term). Effect (intermediate outcome) refers to what is a relatively direct and immediate result of programme process and output (e.g., contraceptive prevalence). On the other side, impact (ultimate outcome) refers to the anticipated result of programme process and output in the long-term (e.g., change in fertility rates), but also subject to effects of many non-programme factors (such as socio-economic conditions or status of women) (Pasanen and Shaxson, 2016). Many family planning programmes endeavour to reduce fertility; however, it often takes years to produce this impact. Moreover, if and when it is

achieved, it is difficult to establish the relationship between the family planning programme in question and the fertility decline (given that other factors such as increased levels of education or improved economic conditions may also contribute to the outcome). Thus, programme evaluations often concentrate on the intermediate outcome (effects), which are seen as more directly linked to intervention effort and which are expected to deliver change within a short period. The most common and widely used family planning programme intermediate outcome indicator is contraceptive prevalence level (Bartrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1994). Fast forward to trend analysis, the main purpose of the indicator is to reveal the direction of the trend of the chosen intermediate indicator.

The fifth and final indicator used to assess the impact of family planning programmes is *Coverage Gap.* The coverage gap is the gap between the best and worst users of modern contraceptive. Thereafter, we examine the trend of the inequality gap from the baseline, to the end-line to ascertain whether the gap is narrowing down, remained constant or widening further (WHO and World Bank, 2017; Sherri, et al., 2012). To increase the coverage of basic health-care as envisaged in SDG number 3, the number of individuals who are covered by basic health services becomes relevant. Ideally, the method for estimating this number should have two features: i) reflects the people who receive all the basic services they would need (vs affiliation with a health service scheme); and, ii) changes in this number must be measurable. The indicator has gained popularity since the adoption of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and in the year 2015, and was used in a monitoring report of Universal Health Coverage (UHC) (WHO and World Bank, 2017; Sustainable Development Goals, 2019).

In the 2015 UHC monitoring report, it was noted that over 400 million people lacked access to at least 1 of 7 essential services representing MDG priority areas (family planning, antenatal care, births attendance by a skilled health professional, DTP3 immunization, HIV treatment, TB treatment, and ITN use among children). This calculation did not encompass the broad range of basic health-care individuals should receive, and considering an expanded list of services would yield a long list of individuals without coverage for at least one of them. Moreover, this number did not reflect whether any particular individual has full coverage of all the essential services they may need. (WHO, 2015).

At the centre of this indicator is the reliance on tracer indicators that measure coverage of the full package of basic health interventions that should be provided in every nation. The small set of tracer indicators, which measure coverage of essential services over an inclusive range of disease areas and service delivery platforms such as coverage of services among those in need (i.e., the percentage of individuals requiring a service that receive the service), versus access to the actual services (i.e. affiliation with a health coverage scheme, or versus effective coverage with services (i.e. the percentage of those in need who receive services of sufficient quality to realize the potential health gains) among others. These tracer measurements reflect coverage with but do not define, the comprehensive set of basic health-care that should be provided in every country. The calculation has the following steps: i) Select a small set of tracer indicators of health-care coverage with good data availability, drawing from and modifying the tracer measures in the SDG 3.8.1 index. Compute average coverage in every country using these indicators; and, ii) Convert this average coverage to the percentage of people with full coverage (defined as receiving most needed services) in

each country. This is then multiplied by the total population to get the number of individuals with full coverage of basic health-care (WHO and World Bank, 2017; Hogan et al., 2017).

2.6 Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) Number 3

In the year 2015, world leaders from over 150 countries around the globe came together and developed a plan for the future. The plan was meant to succeed the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and will expire in the year 2030. This new plan is called the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The SDGs is a set of 17 goals that aspires a world that is devoid of poverty, hunger and safe from the worst effects of climate change by the year 2030. The organisation that is spearheading the implementation of the SDGs is the United Nations Development programme (UNDP). The organisation is present in nearly 170 countries and territories around the globe and is working round the clock to help nations make the goals a reality (UNDP, 2019).

Among the seventeen goals of the Sustainable Development Goals blueprint is goal number three; A world with everyone in good health. In the formulation of this SDG, it was noted that despite the achievements that had been made in achieving the MDG targets with regards to health such as MDG goal 4 Reducing child mortality, MDG goal 5 Improving maternal health and MDG goal 6 Combat HIV/AIDS, Malaria among other diseases, approximately 6 million children still lose their lives before reaching their sixtieth month. Furthermore, over ten thousand children die daily from preventable diseases such as tuberculosis and measles. Besides, women die during pregnancy or from child-birth related complications every day (WHO, 2019). As a way of checking these deaths, it was proposed that prevention and treatment, education, immunization campaigns and reproductive and sexual healthcare become key strategies of SDGs. The SDG endeavours to eliminate epidemics like tuberculosis, malaria, AIDS among other communicable ailments by the year 2030 (WHO, 2019). Thus the broad goal of this SDG is to achieve Universal Health Coverage (UHC) for all by the year 2030 by providing access to safe besides affordable drugs and vaccines (WHO, 2019).

Under this SDG, there are nine health targets. Of relevance to this study is target number 3.7 that seeks to attain universal access to reproductive health-care among them, family planning by the year 2030 (WHO, 2019). Thus the current focus of the national family planning programme is in achieving the targets of SDG number 3.

2.7 Summary of literature review

Literature review of research was introduced by theoretical perspectives that discussed the demographic transition theory. According to the first stage of the theory, a country experiences high mortality rates and equally high birth rates. High deaths are as a result of limitations in medical technology. As a consequence, individuals die of diseases. Besides, children were regarded as labour commodities. The high birth is a strategy to offset the high death rates, thus assuring the constant supply of labour is maintained. Stage two is characterised by a constant high birth level as death rates decline rapidly thus population increases. This is attributed to improvements in medications and advancement in technology. Stage three is characterised by natural population increasing rapidly as a consequence of continued slow death rates. However, birth rates begin to decline towards equilibrium with the low death levels. Reasons are that the standards of living have immensely improved as a

result of advances in medical technology. Also, women are more educated than before, therefore have immense knowledge on family planning. During stage four of the theory, birth rates and mortality levels converge creating a "balanced and ideal population" that results in more elderly people. Reasons for this trend are: medical technology advancements are at an all-time high, women are more empowered and thus have knowledge on the dividends of family planning, individualism is on the rise, children are viewed as "economic commodities" i.e. the more you have the more you will spend in their education, and influences of urbanization.

The literature review then looked at empirical studies on the methods of assessing family planning programmes in chronological order from the very earliest to recent ones. During the earliest stage (roughly 1960 to the early 1970s), methods that were looked at include Use of acceptor data, Crude rates, standardization and decomposition, Experimental methods, Quasi-experimental methods, Substitution effect methods, and Trend analysis. During the second phase of FP programme evaluation (from the mid-1970s to mid-1980s), FP programmes had become complex in structure. In this regard, programmes were being asked to present more in-depth estimates of programme effects that took to account contextual changes. More attention was paid to understand demand thus large-scale surveys like World Fertility Surveys (WFS) were favoured. In the latest phase (the Mid 1980s to date), FP programmes have become more sophisticated in combining attention both to the determinants of demand and ways of influencing use, while giving closer scrutiny to the components of supply environment and their effects. This marked the start of Demographic Health Surveys (DHS) and what is now termed as the "full marketing strategy" in the assessment of FP programmes and their resulting impacts. As a consequence, multilevel analysis models and the background factors of women were combined into a more suitable approach of measuring impact that yielded more reliable results.

Background factors influencing use were reviewed. Evidence from literature indicates that background factors like education of a woman, place of residence, region, occupation, wealth category, age, marital status and method mix; in their unique ways, cause contraceptive use among women. From the literature, it would be erroneous to evaluate the performance of the national FP programme using crude rates. This is because the effect of individual-level factors and regions will have not been captured.

Literature review summed up with a section on what monitoring and evaluation entail, the monitoring and evaluation of family planning programmes, indicators for monitoring and evaluation, key family planning programme outcome level indicators, the sources of data for evaluating family planning programmes and a brief discussion of target 3.7 of sustainable development goal number 3.

2.8 Conceptual Framework

This study used a conceptual framework developed under the Evaluation Project by Tsui et al (1992) for measuring family planning demand and programme effect on fertility. The indicators in this conceptual framework measure the following areas: contraceptive practice, service delivery, service output, the policy environment, demand for children, demand FP, service utilization and lastly, fertility (Bertrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1994).

According to the conceptual framework, in any country, there are several social economic and cultural factors that operate at a societal level to influence family size. These factors combine with socio-demographic characteristics and psycho-social factors to influence the preferred family size. Additionally, level of socio-economic development, degree of urbanization, the demand for child labour, old-age support and economic security, the cost of raising children, status of women, kinship structures, conjugal patterns and religious customs are all examples of key factors that determine the demand for children in a given society (Bertrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1994; Bongaarts, 1978).

Other than the determinants in society, the demand for children is also affected by the FP supply environment. By making FP services more accessible, one can create demand for these services of achieving pregnancy prevention besides fulfilling a latent demand for spacing or limiting children (Bertrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1994).

A comprehensive FP programme consists of several operations. These operations correspond closely to the divisions found in most governmental or private FP programmes which include: supervision, training, commodities and logistics, management, advocacy efforts, and research/evaluation. Specifically, these programmes strive to improve the quantity and quality of FP services available to clients in both the public sector (government programme) and private sector (NGO-sponsored services, private doctors, pharmacies or other commercial outlets). Through Information-Education-Communication (IEC) efforts they seek to create a social climate where FP is acceptable, such that clients will receive social support for their decision to use (Bertrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1994).

Adequacy of FP services is measured in terms of service output at the programme level to improve service delivery. By making FP easily accessible and satisfactory to potential clients, the programmes endeavour to achieve the second key output which is enhancing the utilization of these services. The success of the programme is evaluated by several indicators of service utilization. Service utilization is key because it is closely linked with the key behavioural change sought i.e. increased contraceptive practice among the target population. Contraceptive prevalence level has been the indicator that has been widely used to assess changes in use in the target populations with regards to impact assessment. In analyses of the factors responsible for fertility decline in countries like Kenya, contraceptive use and other intermediate variables or proximate determinants of fertility as presented by Bongaarts (1978) have emerged as the most important considerations in evaluating FP programmes impact evaluation (Tsui, 1992; Bongaarts, 1978).



Figure 2.1: Conceptual Framework of Family Planning Demand and Programme Impact on Fertility. Source: (Bertrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1994) page 16.

2.9 Operational Framework

The operational framework of this study was modified from the conceptual framework by Tsui et al. (1992) above. The modification focused on social-economic, cultural, sociodemographic characteristics and psycho-social factors that operate at the societal and individual level to influence use that then will be examined to assess the inequality gap in each. These factors combined with knowledge of and access to FP influence desired family size at the individual level.

The framework has two categories of variables: Direct determinants and indirect determinants. The direct determinants are selected family planning programme variables while indirect determinants are selected socio-economic characteristics and region of a woman. In this regard, the selected FP programme variables for the study are the intervention that is meant to promote contraceptive use among reproductive women in Kenya. The background characteristics were further divided into two categories-individual factors and community/societal factors. Individual-level factors included: age, marital status, level of education, employment status and wealth index. Community-level factors that were considered were region and place of residence. These variables (direct determinants and indirect determinants) operate individually or collectively to cause a woman not to use or use contraceptive in Kenya.

To measure demand for FP services, the variable desire for more children was used where respondents were asked whether they plan to have more children within a certain period. Those who did not desire to have no more children and those who planned to postpone child bearing were considered as having the greatest demand for family planning.

Contraceptive use is the outcome variable and has a dichotomous response of "0" for not using and "1" for use. The results of the association with the independent variables enabled the examination of the inequality gap by each background factor as a way of estimating the coverage gap. All the direct and indirect determinants as explained in the foregoing paragraph were independent (*See figure 2.2 below for illustration*).



Figure 2.2: Operational Model of the Study

2.10 Operational Hypotheses

Following the review of literature under section 2.4 of this chapter, the following hypotheses

were formulated for each variable:

i. Higher education is likely to influence modern contraceptive use in a woman.

ii. Employment is correlated with contraceptive use in a woman.

iii. A woman in the richest wealth category is more like to use modern contraceptives compared to a woman from the poorest category.

iv. Age is likely to influence contraceptive use of a woman.

v. Marriage is positively correlated with modern contraceptives use.

vi. A woman living in an urban area is likely to use modern contraceptive methods than a woman living in a rural area.

vii. Region of residence is likely to influence modern contraceptive use of a woman.

viii. Knowledge of family planning has a positive effect on contraceptive use of a woman.

The overall hypothesis of this study is presented below as:

i. The national family planning programme has reduced the inequality gap in modern contraceptive use by socio-economic factors and by regions from the baseline to the end-line and thus has increased the coverage gap.

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the source of data and methods of data analysis that were used in this study.

3.2 Sources of Data for Evaluating Family Planning Programmes

The evaluation of family planning programmes usually entails both population-based and programme-based data. Although there are several data sources for evaluating FP programmes, the vast majority of programme evaluation is centred on the following data sources: Output programme-based measures rely on programme records, especially service statistics, facility surveys, commercial sector data and special studies while outcomes which are largely population-based rely on Demographical Health Surveys (DHS)-type household surveys (Bertrand, Magnani, and Rutenberg, 1996; DHS, 2019).

Because this study relied on population-based data, the author focused more on this source of data for FP programme evaluation. The primary tool for collecting population-based data for FPP assessments is by way of survey such as the Demographic Health Survey (DHS, 2019). Following in the footsteps of the Contraceptive Prevalence Survey (CPS) and World Fertility Survey (WFS), the Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) is conducted among a representative sample of women in their reproductive ages in a given country (Bertrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1996). The Demographic Health Survey (DHS) core questionnaire consisting of some 250 questions that provide comprehensive data on fertility and FP, on top of information on mother and child health, services utilization, and related topics (Bertrand, Magnani and Rutenberg, 1996; DHS, 2019).

Several indicators are used to measure the impact of Kenya's family planning programme during the Kenya Demographic and Health Surveys (KNBS, 2015). These indicators include: Knowledge of a contraceptive method in Kenya; Current use; Use of contraception by background characteristics; Trends in use of contraception at the moment; Timing of sterilization; Source of contraception; Informed choice; Contraceptive discontinuation rates; Reasons for discontinuation of use; Knowledge of fertile period; among others (KNBS, 2010; CBS, 2004; KNBS, 2015).

The Kenya Demographic and Health Surveys have provided a wealth of information that has been instrumental in the evaluation of population and health interventions in Kenya. A programme that has heavily been evaluated with these data is Kenya's Family Planning Programme (FPP) (CBS, 2003; KNBS, 2010; KNBS, 2015; The World Bank, 2016).

3.3 Source of Data for the Study

This study relied on secondary data from three Kenya National Demographic and Health Surveys (KDHS) conducted in the year 2003, 2008-09 and 2014. The surveys captured information on background factors, among other health issues, from a sample of women in the reproductive ages of 15-49 (KNBS et.al, 2010). Of the samples selected in all the three surveys, 8,561 were successfully interviewed in 2003; 8,444 in 2008-09 and 36,430 in 2014. Due to the devolved structure of government that paved the way for the counties, the sample for the year 2014 was increased to include more households for purposes of producing estimates in the new administrative units. In all the three surveys, the response rates were

96% or above. The study focused on all women in Kenya in their reproductive ages. The main objective was to estimate the trends of inequalities in the use of modern contraceptives among women in Kenya by background factors from the year 2003 to the year 2014. The data for KDHS 2003 was used as the baseline data for this study while data for KDHS 2008-2009 and KDHS 2014 as the second and third points in time respectively. Data for the two last points were used to determine the extent to which the national FP programme improved modern contraceptive use from the baseline within that period by showing the direction of the trend of inequalities in use.

During the three demographic and health surveys, the women's Questionnaire captured information from all women in ages 15-49 years and covered the following topics: respondent's background characteristics (e.g., residential history, education, media exposure) and knowledge and use of family planning methods (KNBS et.al, 2009; KNBS et.al, 2015; CBS et.al, 2004).

3.4 Methods of Data Analysis

The main methods of data analysis that were used for this study include descriptive statistics, logistic regression and multilevel logistic regression. The reason why two types of logistic regressions are being used in the study is to control for confounding during analysis. Two techniques are used to control for confounding during analysis. The first one is by way of multivariate analysis and the second one is by stratification. In multivariate analysis, logistic regression is used to control more than a single confounder simultaneously. In stratification, the association between the independent variables and the dependent variable are examined in different strata of the confounder. The methods are discussed below.

3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics

For purposes of this study, descriptive statistics were used to describe the distribution of background characteristics of women in the study population. Besides, Cross tabulations with Chi-Square statistic were used to measure the strength of relationships between the outcome variable of interest (Contraceptive use) and selected explanatory variables, while at the same time, testing hypotheses. The basic computational equation is given as:

$$X^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{(\mathbf{0} - \mathbf{E})2}{\mathbf{E}}$$

Where:

- **O** = Observed frequency for each cell.
- \mathbf{E} = Expected frequency for each cell.
- $\Sigma =$ Sum (Sigma).

Because data analysis at the individual level ignores the nesting of people within clusters (regions), which may lead to the underestimation of standard errors thus increasing the chances of incorrect results, further analysis is was required. Additionally, the Chi-Square is also limited since it only gives the strength of the association between the dependent and explanatory responses. It doesn't indicate the magnitude of the association and also the direction of effect of the association. To establish both the magnitude and the direction of effect of the explanatory variables and the dependent variable, this study used multilevel logistic regression a derivative of logistic regression (Pourhoseingholi, et al., 2012).

However, before discussing multilevel logistic regression, a look at logistic regression is necessary.

3.4.2 Logistic Regression

Logistic regression sometimes called the logistic model or logit model, analyses the relationship between multiple independent variables and a dichotomous outcome variable. It estimates the probability of an event taking place (Menard, 2001). The two main types of logistic regression include multinomial logistic regression as well as binary logistic regression. Binary logistic regression is used to estimate the odds of being a case based on the independent variable values. When the outcome variable is non-dichotomous, a multinomial logistic regression is applied (Bewick, Cheek, and Ball, 2005). In logistic regression, odds are important. Odds of an event are the probability ratio that the event will happen against not happening. With the chance of an event occurring being p, the chance of the event not occurring is (1-P). The resulting odds are a value given by:

Odds of {*Event*} = p/1-p

Logistic regression measures the likelihood of an event taking place against the probability of an event not occurring (Long, 1997). With logistic regression, we model the natural log odds as a linear function of the explanatory variable as:

$$Logit(y) = In(odds) = In(p/1-p) + a + \beta x...(1)$$

Where:

P =Probability of interested outcome X = Explanatory variable a and β = Parameters of the logistic regression

Taking the antilog of equation (1) on each side of the equation, an equation for prediction of the probability of the occurrence of interested outcome is derived as:

$$P = P(Y = \text{Interested outcome}/X = x, \text{ a specific value})$$
$$\frac{e^{a+\beta x}}{1+e^{a+\beta x}} = \frac{1}{1+e^{-(a+\beta x)}}$$

To extend the logic of the simple logistic regression to multiple predictors, one may construct a complex logistic regression as:

logit
$$(y) = In \left(\frac{p}{1-p}\right) = a + \beta_i X_i + ... + \beta_k X_k$$

Therefore:

$$P = P(Y = Interested \ outcome/X_1 = X_1, \dots X_k = X_k)$$
$$= \frac{e^{a+\beta_1 X_{1+-}+\beta_k X_k}}{1+e^{a+\beta_1 X_{1+-}+\beta_k X_k}} = \frac{1}{1+e^{-(a+\beta_1 X_{1+-}+\beta_k X_k)}}$$

An important component of logistic regression is odds ratio (Park, 2013) Odds ratio (OR) is a comparative measure of two odds relative to different events. For two event A and B, the corresponding odds of A occurring relative to B occurring is:

Odds ratio {
$$AvsB$$
} = odds{ A }/odds { B } = $P_A/(1-P_A)/P_B/(1-P_B)$

An OR is a measure of association between an exposure and an outcome. The OR represents the odds an outcome (e.g. disease) will occur given a particular exposure (e.g. health behaviour), compared to the odds of the outcome occurring in the absence of that exposure (Menard, 2001). When a logistic regression is calculated, the regression coefficient (bi) is the estimated increase in the logged odds of the outcome per unit increase in the value of the outcome variable. OR can also be deployed to estimate if a particular exposure is a risk factor for a particular outcome, and to measure the magnitude of various risk factors for that outcome. OR = 1 indicates exposure does not affect odds of outcome; OR >1 indicates exposure associated with higher odds of outcome while OR <1 indicates exposure associated with lower odds of outcome (Peng and So, 2002).

Several assumptions ought to be considered in logistic regression. Some include: it requires the outcome variable to be dichotomous; the model should be fitted correctly i.e. should not be fitted with irrelevant variables and should not be under fitted with relevant variables excluded; logistic regression requires each observation to be independent; the explanatory variables should be linearly related to the log odds of event of interest and finally logistic regression requires large sample sizes (Hosmer and Lemeshow, 2000).

3.4.3 Multilevel Logistic Regression

During this stage of analysis, a multilevel analysis was employed by way of multilevel logistic regression to test the relationship between the outcome variable of interest and independent variables. The reasons of using multilevel modelling are a) the data (DHS) that have been used have several levels (community level, programme level, individual level); b) social phenomena are not independent-they are nested in hierarchies, which make them dependent on each other (Eini, 2005). Using traditional methods such as "Ordinary Least Square" (OLS) ignores "Intra Cluster Correlation" (Proportion of the total variance that is between clusters), and c) utilization of single-level variance component model ignores per cent of the total variance of fertility which is related to intra clusters proportion.

The multilevel analysis involved three levels (individual, community and Family Planning Programme factors). At the onset, the units of analysis were individuals and were analysed by the following equation:

$$y_{ij} = b_{oj} + b_{ij}I_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij}$$
 $\varepsilon_{ij} \sim N(0, 0^2);$Equation1

Where:

$$B_{oj}$$
 = Constant

 Y_{ij} = Outcome variable of the i^{th} individual in context (which in this case is the log odds ratio)

 \mathbf{I}_{ij} = Individual level variables for the i^{th} individual in context

 $\mathbf{\epsilon}_{ij}$ = Individual level errors assumed to be independent and normally distributed with a mean of 0 and a variance of 0^2

In the second stage, the units of analysis were groups and were given by the equations:

$$b_{oj} = y_{oo} + y_{oj}c_j + u_{oj} \qquad u_{oj} \sim N(0, \tau_{00});.....Equation 2$$

$$b_{ij} = y_{10} + y_{11}c_j + u_{ij} \qquad u_{ij} \sim N(0, \tau_{11});.....Equation 3$$

$$C_{ov}(u_{oj}, u_{ij}) = \tau_{10},$$

Where:

 $C_j =$ Community level factors

 $(\mathbf{U}_{oj}, \mathbf{U}_{ij}) = \text{Errors in the group level equations assumed to spread normally with mean 0 and variance <math>\tau_{00}$ and τ_{11}

 $y_{ij} = y_{oo} + y_{o1}c_j + y_{10}I_{ij} + y_{11}c_jI_{ij} + u_{oj} + u_{1j}I_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij};$ Equation 4

Where:

 \mathbf{Y}_{ij} = Is the outcome variable of interest of the i^{th} individual in the j^{th} region

 $Y_{00} = Constant$

 y_{o1} = Fixed effect of group level variables

 y_{10} = Variables at the individual level

 u_{oj} = An intercept component that is random

 u_{1i} = A random slope component

 $(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{ij} = \text{The individual level errors})$

The advantage of multilevel analyses is that they allow examining a variety of interrelated variables. The fixed-effects coefficients in the equation can be used to estimate the independent effects of group-level variables (y_{o1}) , individual-level variables (y_{10}) , and their interaction with individual-level outcomes. Besides, errors for observations within groups are correlated because u_{oj} and u_{1j} are common for observations within each group and the variance of the complex error is not constant because it depends on (u_{oj}) and (u_{1j}) , as well as on the value of (I_{ij}) (Ana, 2000).

3.5 Variables and their measurement

Contraceptive use was the outcome variable for this study and was dichotomous. Secondary analysis began with logistic regression to get the crude odds then followed by multilevel logistic regression for the adjusted odds. The independent variables were: background factors specific to individual women such as, education, wealth index, age, marital status, occupation and desire for more children; community-level factors which were represented by region and place of residence and finally, variables that were used to measure the impact of family planning programme in proxy such as source of contraceptive commodities, source of family planning information and contraceptive use by method type. The main indicator that was used in this study is inequality gap and was used to measure the performance of the national family planning programme by examining the inequality gap by socioeconomic factors and by regions to ascertain the coverage gap (*see Table 3.1 for elaboration*). To do this, the difference between the crude odds ratios and adjusted odds ratios of the highest and lowest users were calculated and converted to percentages from the baseline survey to the end line survey and their trend examined to assess whether the inequality gap is narrowing

down or widening. With regards to adjusted coverage gap, the odds ratios of the highest and lowest users were converted to probabilities, multiplied by 100; with the difference being the adjusted coverage gap.

Sustainable Development Goal 3.8 focuses on more than just population coverage. The goal seeks to realise Universal Health Coverage (UHC) by eliminating financial barriers, enhancing access to quality key health services including access to safe, affordable yet effective medicines including vaccines for everybody globally. One of the two indicators adopted for this goal by the United Nations Statistical Commission is Coverage of essential health services. The measure is described by the provision of health services on the basis of tracer measures such as maternal and child health; infectious diseases and access by the entire and marginalised individuals/groups in society (WHO, et al., 2017; GBD SDG Collaborators, 2017; WHO, 2017; WHO, 2017).

In this regard, when assessing performance towards Universal Health Coverage (UHC), the indicator used should not only focus on the proportion of the population able to access Family Planning Services but also measure effective service coverage. Further, the indicator should also be able to be disaggregated by key dimensions of inequality such as by wealth quantile, education attainment, place of residence, by region, by gender and by age (WHO, 2017).

	Table 3.	1:	Summary	of	variables the	it we	ere	used	for	the	study	and	their	measu	rements
--	----------	----	---------	----	---------------	-------	-----	------	-----	-----	-------	-----	-------	-------	---------

	Variable Name	Measurement	Type of variable				
Objective							
Outcome variable							
Examine gap between the	Modern contraceptive use						
highest and lowest users in	(Examine trends in inequality						
the three surveys by socio-	gap between the highest and	0 = Not Using	Dependent				
economic factors and by	lowest users in the three	1 = Using					
regions.	surveys by socio-economic						
	factors and by regions						
Determinants of contracep	tive use						
Establish whether		0 = No Education					
education level has	Education level	1 = Primary					
influence on modern		2 = Secondary	Independent				
contraceptive use		3 = Higher					
Investigate whether							
occupation has influence	Employment status	0 = Not Working					
on a woman using		1 = Working	Independent				
contraceptives							
		1 = 15-19					
Ascertain whether age		2 = 20-24					
plays a role in influencing		3 = 25-29					
a woman to use modern	Age group	4 = 30-34	Independent				
contraceptive use		5 = 35-39					
_		6 = 40-44					
		7 = 45-49					
Establish whether wealth		1 = Poorest					
status of a woman has		2 = Poorer					
influence on use of	Wealth	3 = Middle	Independent				
modern contraceptives		4 = Richer					
		5 = Richest					
		0=Never in Union					
Establish use of		1=Married					
contraceptives by marital	Marital status	2=Living with partner					
status		3=Widowed	Independent				
		4=Divorced					
		5=Separated					
Estimate demand for		1 = Wants within 2 years					
family planning in Kenya		2= Wants after 2 years					
	Desire for more children	3= Wants, unsure timing	Independent				
		4= Undecided					
		5= Wants no more					
Community-level factors	1		Γ				
		1 = Nairobi					
		2 = Rift Valley					
Examine whether regional		3 = Western	Independent Independent Independent Independent Independent Independent Independent Independent				
differences play a role on	Region of residence	4 = Nyanza Independent					
how women in Kenya use		5 = North Eastern					
modern contraceptives.		6 = Central					
		7 = Coast					
		8 = Eastern					

Continuation of Table 3.1

Ascertain whether place of residence has influence on modern contraceptive use	Place of residence	1 = Urban 2 = Rural	Independent
Proxy variables for measured	ring family planning programm	e performance	
Establish the most preferred modern contraceptive methods	Contraceptive method by type	0 = Not using $1 = Pill$ $2 = IUD$ $3 = Injections$ $4 = Diaphragm$ $5 = Condom$ $6 = Female sterilization$ $7 = LAM$ $8 = Other$	Independent
Ascertain the sources of family planning contraceptives for women in Kenya	Source of family planning commodities	1 = Government 2 = Private clinic 3 = Pharmacy 4 = NGO 5 = Shop, Church Friend 6 = Other	Independent
Establish the source used	Heard family planning on radio	0 = No 1 = Yes	Independent
by most women to get family planning	Heard family planning on TV	0 = No 1 = Yes	Independent
information	Heard family planning in newspaper/magazine	0 = No 1 = Yes	Independent

CHAPTER FOUR

TRENDS IN INEQUALITIES IN USE OF FAMILY PLANNING AMONG WOMEN OF REPRODUCTIVE AGE IN KENYA KDHS 2003, 2008/09 AND 2014

4.1 Introduction

The results of this study are discussed in this chapter. The chapter comprises the following sections: descriptive characteristics of the study population, bivariate analysis results of the proportion of women using contraceptives, logistic regression results presenting crude odds ratios and multilevel logistic regression analysis results presenting the adjusted odds ratios.

4.2 Descriptive Characteristics of the Study Population

This section describes the distribution of characteristics in the study population by individual level, community level and selected family planning programme factors in the three surveys. The results of this analysis are presented in *Table 4.1*.

Results from the three surveys show that 27.8 per cent of respondents in the 2003 survey were using modern contraceptives, 30 per cent were using in the 2008/09 survey, while 38.7 per cent were using in the 2014 survey.

With regards to age, the age group 15-19 registered the highest number of respondents in 2003 at 22.2 per cent with the age group 45-49 having the least sampled use at 6.2 per cent. Similar results were registered in the 2008/09 and 2014 surveys. However, in the 2014 survey, there was a slight reduction in the number sampled in the age group 15-19 at 19.6 per cent.

Women with no education were 15.8 per cent in the 2003 survey, those with primary level education were the highest at 53.1 per cent, secondary education 24.1 per cent, with those having higher education at 7.1 per cent. There were low education levels among respondents with about half having primary school as their highest level in all the three surveys (*Table 4.1*). Additionally, between 13% and 16% of the women had no formal education; the proportions however reduced with time. On the other hand, the percentage of women who achieved higher education (above secondary level) increased from 7.1% in 2003 to 8.5% in 2008/09 and finally 8.6% in the 2014 survey. This shows that literacy levels are improving.

With regards to employment, there was a significantly low per cent (56%) of working women in the 2008/09 survey compared to the other surveys. Unexpectedly, the proportion of women classified in the richest wealth index showed a downward trend from 31% in 2003 to 28% in 2008/09, then 19% in 2014.

Concerning marital status, the proportion of use by married women increased from 54% in 2003 to 55% in2008/09 and 57% in 2014. The per cent of separated women (no longer living with husband) also increased with time.

With regard to desire for more children, an indicator that was used to measure demand, women who did not want more children were the highest users in all the three surveys at 35.9 per cent in 2003, 37.1 per cent in 2008-09 and 38.8 per cent in 2014 respectively. This group was followed by those who want children after two two years at 31.8 per cent in 2003, 31.9 per cent in 2008-09 and 36.3 per cent in 2014. The least users were the undecided group in all the three surveys at 3.6 per cent in 2003, 4.3 per cent in 2008-9 and 5.3 per cent in 2014 respectively.

As far as community-level factors such as region and place of residence are concerned, the highest number of the sampled women in 2003 lived in the former Central Province (16%) and Rift Valley (16%) while the lowest lived-in North-Eastern (5%) as shown in *Table 4.1.* In 2008, Nyanza and Western provinces recorded the highest number of women who were sampled, while North-Eastern had the lowest with a percentage of 16%, 15% and 7% respectively. A significantly higher percentage (29%) of women sampled in 2014 lived in the Rift valley, followed by Eastern Province (17%) while Nairobi Province had the lowest (3%). Majority of the women (more than 60%) who participated in the study were living in rural areas in all the three surveys. Particularly, the 2008/09 survey had the highest percentage (69%) of women living in rural areas compared to the other two surveys.

The common specific types of contraceptive methods being used were found to be injections followed by the pills in the three surveys. The use of condoms was low (1.8%) in the 2003 survey but increased to 3.1% in 2008/09 then reduced to 2.5% in 2014. The most popular source of contraceptives was from the government clinic or pharmacy; however, a large proportion of women also acquired contraceptives from private clinics. The use of contraceptives from the government clinics/pharmacy increased significantly over the years (from 52% in 2003 to 65% in 2014), while acquisition from private clinics reduced, from 36% in 2003 to 19% in 2014.

The results from two surveys (2008/09 and 2014) showed that radio stations are the most effective method of creating awareness on contraceptives compared to other methods. This was due to increased media communication in the form of radio programmes and advertisements mainly from the government among other stakeholders, meant to increase awareness on family planning (Ministry of Health, 2012). Over 65% of the women in the

two surveys reported that they had accessed family planning information via a radio station in the previous few months while approximately a third, heard from the televisions and newspaper/magazines (*Table 4.1*).

			KDHS Y	EAR		
Study variables	2002 (0 105)				
	2003 (n=	=8,195) Domoont	2008/09 (1	n=8,444) Domoont	2014 (n=.	51,097) Doncont
Individual laval factors	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent
Current use						
Not using	5010	72.2	5012	70.0	10047	61.0
Not using	3919	12.2	3913 2521	70.0	19047	01.2
	2270	21.8	2331	30.0	12032	38.7
Age group	1920	22.2	1767	20.0	(079	10.6
15-19	1820	22.2	1744	20.9	0078 5405	19.0
20-24	1/10	20.9	1/44	20.7	5020	17.4
25-29	1400	17.1	1423	10.9	5959	19.1
50-54 25 20	1110 850	15.0	020	14.0	4432	14.5
55-59 40 44	839 780	10.5	930	11.0 9 <i>C</i>	2006	12.4
40-44	/ 80 510	9.5	730 670	8.0 7.0	2980	9.0
43-49	510	0.2	070	1.9	2551	/.0
Education level	1201	15 0	1242	147	4102	12 5
Drimony	1291	13.8	1242	14.7	4105	15.5
Philliary Secondamy	4348	33.1 24.1	4402	32.2	13013	30.2
Secondary	1973 591	24.1 7.1	2084	24.1	0393	21.1
Figlier Energlaumant Status	361	/.1	/14	8.3	2000	0.0
Employment Status	2017	20.7	2720	44.4	5620	20 /
Not working Warking	5247 4020	59.7 60.2	3739	44.4	3030	58.4
	4939	00.5	4084	33.0	9034	01.0
weath index	1276	16.0	1600	20.1	7262	22.4
Poorest	1370	10.8	1099	20.1	7202	25.4
Poorer	1300	13.9	1204	13.2	5970	19.2
Dishan	1381	10.9	1455	17.2	5940 5048	19.1
Richert	1308	19.1	1017	19.1	5042	19.2
Nicitest	2304	51.5	2389	20.3	3943	19.1
Marital status	2466	20.1	2540	20.1	9575	27.6
Merried	2400	50.1	2340	50.1 55.4	0373	27.0 57.1
Marrieu Living with partner	4449	54.5	4062	JJ.4 4 2	17751	37.1 4 1
Widowed	427	J.2 4 1	251	4.5	1205	4.1
Diversed	557 142	4.1	119	4.2	721	5.0 2.2
Separated	143	1.7	204	1.4	121	2.5
Desire More Children	373	4.0	394	4./	1550	5.0
Wents within 2 years	1047	126	1000	10.4	1550	10.0
wants within \angle years Wants ofter 2 years	1047	15.0	2562	12.4	1330	10.9
wants after 2 years	2443 1127	31.0 15 2	2302 1156	31.9 14 4	J10J 1242	30.3 0 7
wants, Unsure unning	110/	13.2	1130	14.4	1242	0./ 5.2
Wente no more	215	3.0 25.0	343 2081	4.5	/49 5515	3.3 20 0
wants no more	2703	33.9	2981	37.1	3313	38.8

Table 4.1: Descriptive characteristics of the study population during the three surveys

Continuation of Table 4.1

Community level factors								
Region of residence								
Nairobi	1169	14.3	952	11.3	999	3.2		
Central	1314	16.0	973	11.5	3114	10.0		
Coast	938	11.4	1149	13.6	3902	12.6		
Eastern	993	12.1	1127	13.3	5247	16.9		
Nyanza	1025	12.5	1318	15.6	4254	13.7		
Rift Valley	1328	16.2	1278	15.1	9059	29.1		
Western	991	12.1	1039	12.3	2840	9.1		
North Eastern	437	5.3	608	7.2	1664	5.4		
Type of residence								
Rural	5444	66.4	5829	69.0	19465	62.6		
Urban	2751	33.6	2615	31.0	11614	37.4		
Family Planning Programme facto	rs							
Type of Contraceptive method								
Injections	828	10.1	1092	12.9	5516	17.7		
Pill	399	4.9	390	4.6	1439	4.6		
Periodic abstinence	347	4.2	222	2.6	813	2.6		
Female sterilization	250	3.1	242	2.9	652	2.1		
Condom	145	1.8	259	3.1	786	2.5		
IUD	136	1.7	105	1.2	614	2.0		
Implants/Norplant	95	1.2	108	1.3	1969	6.3		
Withdrawal	30	0.4	44	0.5	143	0.5		
Lactational amenorrhea (LAM)	0	0.0	28	0.3	20	0.1		
Other	45	0.5	39	0.5	51	0.2		
Source for Current users								
Government clinic/pharmacy	970	52.3	1192	54.5	7139	65.3		
Government home/community	na	na	18	0.8	55	0.5		
delivery								
NGO	na	na	29	1.3	235	2.2		
Private clinic/delivery	664	35.8	541	24.7	2088	19.1		
Pharmacy	125	6.7	252	11.5	964	8.8		
Shop, church, friend	92	5.0	142	6.5	401	3.7		
Other	2	0.1	14	0.6	47	0.4		
Source of FP information	Source of FP information							
Radio	na	na	5484	65.0	9944	67.5		
Television	na	na	3098	36.7	5477	37.2		
Newspaper/magazine	na	na	2716	32.2	3417	23.8		

Source: Primary analysis KDHS 2003, KDHS 2008/09 and KDHS 2014 na: Not applicable

4.3 Bivariate Analysis Results of Proportion of women using

A Bivariate analysis was conducted in all the three surveys with the sole purpose of identifying the proportion of women who use modern contraceptives in Kenya and thus enable the assessment of the trends in the coverage gap. The results of the bivariate analysis using Chi-square test showed significant relationships between all background characteristics of the study and contraceptive use in the three surveys. Also, it was established that inequalities in use by socio-economic factors and by regions exist in all the three surveys. The results of this analysis are presented in *Table 4.2*.

According to the bivariate analysis results, there is one advantage of the programme. Throughout time, the proportion of women who used modern methods of contraception has increased. However, there are still differences with regards to the coverage gap by socioeconomic factors and by regions.

With regards to age and marital status, they were also significantly associated with modern contraceptive use. The proportion of women using contraceptives was higher (44%) among women of 35-39 years in 2003 than any other age group. In the 2008/09 and 2014 surveys, women of the 30-34 age group had a significantly high use of contraceptives. In the 2003 KDHS, married women (39%) mostly used contraceptives followed by those living with their partners (35%). This trend however reversed in 2008/09 and 2014 surveys whereby, more women living with their partners used contraceptives followed by married women. Also, the percentage of women using modern methods increased with time.

With regards to education, it is the first socio-economic indicator of measuring inequality in modern contraceptive use of the family planning programme commodities. The proportion

of women using contraceptives was directly correlated with education level in the first two surveys (2003 and 2008/09); the higher the education level, the higher the proportion of women who use modern contraceptives. The 2014 survey followed the same trend, however, more women (44%) whose highest education level was primary school, used contraceptives compared to the ones whose highest level was secondary school (40%). In the 2003 survey, the coverage gap was 39.6, it then increased slightly to 36.9 in the 2008/09 survey and registered a further slight reduction to 36.4 in the 2014 survey. This is an indicator showing that inequalities in modern contraceptive use by education remained between 2003 and 2014.

With regards to employment status and use, it is the second indicator of measuring inequality in use. The employment status of a woman was seen to be positively related to contraceptive use in all surveys. A higher percentage of working women used contraceptives than those not working. Further, this percentage increased from 35% in 2003 to about 51% in 2014. Even though the use of modern contraceptives improved over time from the baseline, inequalities in access still exist. In the 2003 survey, the coverage gap was 19 followed by a slight widening of 21.2 in the 2008/09 survey. However, in the 2014 survey, the coverage gap widened even further to 30.3.

Desire for more children was an indicator used in the study to measure demand for FP services in the three surveys. According to the findings, the use of family planning by women who do not want more children was 40.4 per cent in 2003; it then slightly dropped to 31.2 per cent in 2008-09, then increased to 40.9 per cent in 2014. In the 2003 survey, those in the group that wanted children but were unsure of the timing were the least users at 8.7%. However, the trend changed in the 2008-09 and 2014 surveys with the group with the least users being those who were undecided at 26.8 per cent and 26.0 per cent respectively. With

regard to the coverage gap of this indicator, the year 2003 had a gap of 31.7% that dropped to 4.4% in the 2008-09 survey then rose to 18.8% in 2014. Although the gap seems to be narrowing down, inequalities in use still remain.

The third socio-economic indicator that this study used to measure the coverage gap of the national family planning programme is the wealth index. It was noted that a positive correlation existed between wealth index and current use of contraceptives. Increase in wealth led to an increase in proportions of women using contraceptives in all the three surveys. However, a slight change was observed in the 2014 survey whereby the proportion of women using contraceptives peaked in the middle category (46%) then slightly declined towards the richest category (44%). In all the three surveys, while the use of modern contraceptives improved over time, inequality in use remained, with a coverage gap 23.4 in 2003, 25.8 in 2008/09 and 25.3 in 2014.

Another key indicator that was studied was coverage gap by regions. According to the results, the regions that registered the lowest use in all three surveys was North Eastern barely at 3%; with Central being the region with the highest users in all the three surveys at 42.2% in 2003, 44.3% in 2008/09 and 51.3% in 2014 respectively. In the 2003 and 2008/09 surveys, the coverage gap stood at 42 while in the 2014 survey the coverage gap widened to 48.5. This is an indicator of inequality in use by regions widening further.

The final indicator examined in this study was coverage gap by place of residence. With regards to this indicator, urban areas registered the highest use compared to rural areas in all the three surveys. Regarding the coverage gap between the rural areas and urban areas, in the 2003 survey, it was 5.9, it then widened to 7.3 in the 2008/09 survey then reduced to 4.7

in the 2014 survey. This is an indicator of inequalities in use still existing by place or residence but coverage gap reduced and is the smallest compared to other social groups.

Overall, it was noted that there has been a great improvement in modern contraceptive use from the baseline to the 2014 survey. The increased use of contraceptive in 2014 survey can partly be accredited to efforts by the national government to scale up family planning programme in the year 2008-09 (Ministry of Medical Services, 2009). One of the efforts by the government was the revision of the national reproductive health strategy covering the period 1997-2010, with a new one, that covered the period 2009-2015, with purpose for the revision being to provide clear guidelines and the alignment of the new strategy with the implementation of the National Reproductive Health Policy which was launched earlier in the year 2007 (Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation; Ministry of Medical Services, 2009). Besides, Kenya made her FP2020 commitment during the London 2012 Summit on Family Planning that included specific investments in policy, financial, and programme service delivery to meet the family planning goals of the country (Family Planning 2020, 2016). However, despite all these efforts, inequalities in use by socio-economic factors and by regions still exist.

The trends in contraceptive use among women by their source of information on family planning the previous few months before the surveys were analysed. These variables were used to measure elements of the family planning programme effort. Use of contraceptives was significantly higher among women who heard about family planning through the media-specifically on radio, television, newspaper or magazine a few months before the surveys than those who did not; for both surveys (2008/09 and 2014). The proportion of women using contraceptives increased over the years (*See Table 4.2*).
Study variables	KDHS YEAR			
	2003 (%)	2008/09 (%)	2014 (%)	
Individual level factors				
Age Group				
15-19	6.5	6.5	8.6	
20-24	20.9	26.7	37.9	
25-29	35.4	37.5	49.8	
30-34	40.9	45.6	53.1	
35-39	43.9	41.4	50.9	
40-44	40.5	40.4	45.6	
45-49	30.6	30.0	34.6	
Coverage gap	34.4	39.1	44.5	
$X^2 P value < 0.001 df = 1$				
Education				
No education	8.6	7.9	11.2	
Primary	27.1	31.3	44.0	
Secondary	35.7	35.3	39.7	
Higher	48.2	44.8	47.6	
Coverage gap	39.6	36.9	36.4	
$X^2 P \ value \ < 0.001 \ df = 1$				
Employment Status				
Not working	16.3	18.2	20.5	
Working	35.3	39.4	50.8	
Coverage gap	19	21.2	30.3	
$X^2 P value < 0.001 df = 1$				
Wealth index				
Poorest	11.0	12.0	20.6	
Poorer	23.3	27.7	42.2	
Middle	29.7	33.1	45.9	
Richer	33.7	36.2	45.4	
Richest	34.4	37.8	43.5	
Coverage gap	23.4	25.8	25.3	
$X^2 P value < 0.001 df = 1$				

Table 4.2: Bivariate analysis results of the proportion of women using modern contraceptive in the study.

Marital status			
Never in union	8.7	9.9	12.5
Married	38.7	40.8	51.4
Living with partner	35.4	46.2	55.2
Widowed	16.0	21.4	25.5
Divorced	20.3	13.6	29.1
Separated	29.0	28.4	39.7
Coverage gap	30	36.3	42.7
$X^2 P \text{ value } < 0.001 \text{ df} = 1$			
Desire for more children			
Wants within 2 years	15.9	28.8	31.8
Wants after 2 years	24.2	29.0	42.8
Wants, Unsure timing	8.7	30.4	27.0
Undecided	15.6	26.8	26.0
Wants no more	40.4	31.2	40.9
Coverage gap	31.7	4.4	16.8
$X^2 P \text{ value } < 0.001 \text{ df} = 1$			
Community level variables			
Region			
Nairobi	22 /	39.0	45.2
	55.4		
Central	42.2	44.3	51.3
Central Coast	42.2 21.0	44.3 25.7	51.3 31.8
Central Coast Eastern	42.2 21.0 35.4	44.3 25.7 33.1	51.3 31.8 44.0
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza	 33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley	 33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western	 33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western North Eastern	 33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 0.2 	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8 2.3	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2 2.8
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western North Eastern Coverage gap	 33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 0.2 42 	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8 2.3 42	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2 2.8 42.4
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western North Eastern Coverage gap $X^2 P$ value <0.001 df = 1	 33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 0.2 42 	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8 2.3 42	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2 2.8 42.4
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western North Eastern Coverage gap $X^2 P$ value <0.001 df = 1 Place of residence	 33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 0.2 42 	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8 2.3 42	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2 2.8 42.4
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western North Eastern Coverage gap $X^2 P$ value <0.001 df = 1 Place of residence Urban	33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 0.2 42 31.7	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8 2.3 42 35.0	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2 2.8 42.4 41.7
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western North Eastern Coverage gap $X^2 P$ value <0.001 df = 1 Place of residence Urban Rural	33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 0.2 42 31.7 25.8	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8 2.3 42 35.0 27.7	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2 2.8 42.4 41.7 37.0
Central Coast Eastern Nyanza Rift Valley Western North Eastern Coverage gap $X^2 P value < 0.001 df = 1$ Place of residence Urban Rural Coverage gap	33.4 42.2 21.0 35.4 21.4 24.2 24.4 0.2 42 31.7 25.8 6.4	44.3 25.7 33.1 29.4 27.3 29.8 2.3 42 35.0 27.7 7.3	51.3 31.8 44.0 43.0 36.8 43.2 2.8 42.4 41.7 37.0 4.7

Family Planning Programme factors				
Heard family planning on radio				
No	na	16.2	24.7	
Yes	na	37.4	46.1	
Coverage gap	-	21.2	21.4	
$X^2 P \text{ value } < 0.001 \text{ df} = 1$				
Heard family planning on TV last few months				
No	na	24.1	34.8	
Yes	na	40.2	46.4	
Coverage gap	-	16.1	11.6	
$X^2 P \text{ value } < 0.001 \text{ df} = 1$				
Heard family planning in newspaper/magazine				
No	na	25.9	37.2	
Yes	na	38.5	45.2	
Coverage gap	-	12.6	8.0	
$X^2 P value < 0.001 df = 1$				

Source: Primary analysis KDHS 2003, KDHS 2008/09 and KDHS 2014 na: Not applicable

4.4 Logistic Regression Results presenting crude odds

This section presents the crude odds of contraceptive use by background characteristics. The purpose was to identify the women who were likely to use by background characteristics before adjusting the odds, thus assess the trends of he coverage gap. The results are presented in *Table 4.3*.

With regards to the individual level factors such as age and marital status, women in the 35-39 age group were 11.282, 10.243 and 11.082 times more likely to use modern contraceptive methods than the 15-19 age group in the three surveys. Those in the 30-34 age group were 9.965, 12.151 and 12.101 times more likely to use than the 15-19 age group. With regards to marital status, married women were 6.633, 6.289 and 7.403 times more likely to use than those never in union category in all the three surveys. The married women were closely followed by those living with their partners at 5.757, 7.844 and 7.403 times more likely to use than the reference group.

With regards to education level, one of the socio-economic indicators used to measure the coverage gap of the national family planning programme, women with higher education were 9.889, 9.481 and 7.188 times more likely to use than those with education. However, the coverage gap shows from 9.889 in 2003 to 7.188 although inequalities in use still exist.

With regards to employment status, a second socio-economic indicator used by this study to measure the coverage gap of the national family planning programme, women who were working were 2.807, 2.910 and 4.002 times more likely to use compared to those not working. The trend of this indicator shows that the coverage gap was widening further in the 2014 survey.

A third socio-economic indicator used in this study to measure the coverage gap of the FP programme is wealth index. According to the results of this indicator, those in the richest wealth category were 4.223 and 4.461 times more likely to use in the 2003 and 2008/09 surveys. However, the trend changed in the 2014 survey with the middle wealth category being the highest likely users with odds of 3.272. Even though the results show a trend of narrowing down of the coverage gap, inequalities in use still remain.

Concerning desire for more children, women in the group that did not desire to have more children had their odds reduce from 3.591 in 2003 to 1.123 in 2008-09 and then sightly increased to 1.487 in 2014. A similar trend was observed with the group that desired children

after 2 years with the year 2003 having odds of 1.696, 2008-09 1.01. and 2014 1.606. In a similar fashion, the coverage gap of this indicator narrowed over time. In 2003 the coverage gap was 3.088 it then dropped to 0.217 in 2008-09 then to 0.119 in 2014.

Region was another indicator this study used to measure the coverage gap of the FP programme. According to results of this analysis, women in North Eastern were least likely to use modern methods of contraception with odds of 0.005, 0.037 and 0.034 in 2003, 2008/09 and the 2014 survey. They are followed by Coast with odds of 0.531, 0.541 and 0.564 more likely to use. Women in Central were the highest users with odds of 1.456, 1.245 and 1.277 followed by women in Eastern at 1.097, 0.775 and 0.950 more likely to use than their North Eastern and Coast Counterparts. Even though the results of this indicator show a narrowing of the coverage gap from the baseline, inequalities in use still continue to linger.

With regards to place of residence, the final indicator used to measure the coverage gap, results indicate that women who are living in urban areas were 0.751, 0.714 and 0.821 times more likely to use modern contraceptives than their rural counterparts. From the results, while the odds of use were improving, inequalities in use still remain.

Women who got family planning information through the three Media were more likely to use contraceptives in reference to those who did not. In the 2008/09 survey, women who heard family planning on radio were 3.105 times more likely to use compared to those who did not while women who heard about family planning on television were 2.12 times likely to use modern contraceptives with respect to those who did not. On the other hand, women who read family planning on newspaper/magazine were the least likely to use contraceptives at 1.793 times, compared to those who did not. A similar trend was observed in 2014 (see Table

4.3).

Study variables	KDHS 2003	KDHS 2008/09	KDHS 2014
	Exp (B)	Exp (B)	Exp (B)
Individual level factors	I		
Age			
15-19 (reference)			
20-24	3.819*	5.272*	6.526*
25-29	7.889*	8.684*	10.592*
30-34	9.965*	12.151*	12.101*
35-39	11.282*	10.243*	11.082*
40-44	9.823*	9.833*	8.952*
45-49	6.356*	6.214*	5.650*
Coverage gap	7.463	6.879	6.451
95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000			
Education level			
No education (reference)			
Primary	3.960*	5.316*	6.232*
Secondary	5.901*	6.360*	5.203*
Higher	9.889*	9.481*	7.188*
Coverage gap	5.929	4.165	1.985
95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000			
Wealth index			
Poorest (reference)			
Poorer	2.443*	2.811*	2.818*
Middle	3.400*	3.619*	3.272*
Richer	4.088*	4.165*	3.208*
Richest	4.223*	4.461*	2.965*
Coverage gap	1.78	1.65	0.39
95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000			
Employment Status			
Not working (reference)			
Working	2.807*	2.910*	4.002*
Coverage gap	2.481	2.529	3.487
95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000			

Table 4.3: Crude odds of contraceptive use by background characteristics in 2003, 2008-9 and 2014

Marital Status			
Never in union (reference)			
Married	6.633*	6.289*	7.403*
Living with partner	5.757*	7.844*	8.624*
Widowed	2.008	2.478	2.401
Divorced	2.677	1.431	2.879
Separated	4.289*	3.622*	4.616*
Coverage gap	4.625	4.858	5.002
95% CI, df 1, P value <0.000			
Desire for more children			
Wants within 2 years (reference)			
Wants after 2 years	1.696*	1.010	1.606*
Wants, Unsure timing	0.503*	1.082	0.792
Undecided	0.984	0.906	0.754
Wants no more	3.591*	1.123	1.487*
Coverage gap	3.088	0.217	0.119
95% CI, df 1, P value <0.000			
Factors at the community level			
Factors at the community level Region			
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)			
Factors at the community level Region Nairobi (reference) Central	1.456	1.245	1.277
Factors at the community level Region Nairobi (reference) Central Coast	1.456 0.531*	1.245 0.541*	1.277 0.564*
Factors at the community level Region Nairobi (reference) Central Coast Eastern	1.456 0.531* 1.097	1.245 0.541* 0.775	1.277 0.564* 0.950
Factors at the community level Region Nairobi (reference) Central Coast Eastern Nyanza	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift Valley	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWestern	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWesternNorth Eastern	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645 0.005*	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666 0.037*	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919 0.034*
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWesternNorth EasternCoverage gap	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645 0.005* 1.451	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666 0.037* 1.208	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919 0.034* 1.243
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWesternNorth EasternCoverage gap95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645 0.005* 1.451	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666 0.037* 1.208	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919 0.034* 1.243
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWesternNorth EasternCoverage gap95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000Place of residence	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645 0.005* 1.451	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666 0.037* 1.208	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919 0.034* 1.243
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWesternNorth EasternCoverage gap95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000Place of residenceRural (reference)	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645 0.005* 1.451	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666 0.037* 1.208	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919 0.034* 1.243
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWesternNorth EasternCoverage gap95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000Place of residenceRural (reference)Urban	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645 0.005* 1.451	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666 0.037* 1.208	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919 0.034* 1.243
Factors at the community levelRegionNairobi (reference)CentralCoastEasternNyanzaRift ValleyWesternNorth EasternCoverage gap95% CI, df 1, P value 0.000Place of residenceRural (reference)UrbanCoverage gap	1.456 0.531* 1.097 0.543 0.637 0.645 0.005* 1.451 0.751* 0.35	1.245 0.541* 0.775 0.653 0.588 0.666 0.037* 1.208 0.714* 0.26	1.277 0.564* 0.950 0.913 0.704 0.919 0.034* 1.243 0.821* 0.174

Family Planning Programme factors				
Heard about FP on Radio				
No (Reference)				
Yes	na	3.105*	2.606*	
Coverage gap	-	2.783	2.222	
95% CI, P value 0.000 df = 1				
Heard about FP on TV				
No (reference)				
Yes	na	2.120*	1.617*	
Coverage gap	-	1.648	0.999	
95% CI, P value 0.000 $df = 1$				
Heard about FP on Newspaper/Magazine No (reference)				
Yes	na	1.793*	1.389*	
Coverage gap	-	1.235	0.669	
95% CI, P value 0.000 $df = 1$				

* Significant in all the three surveys na: Not applicable

4.5 Multilevel Logistic Regression Results presenting Adjusted Odds Ratios of Modern Contraceptive Use

A Multilevel logistic regression analysis was conducted at three different levels-individual, community and using selected family planning variables to estimate the coverage gap when all other factors are controlled for. The results are presented in *Table 4.4*.

According to the results of this analysis, individual socio-economic factors such as age, marital status, education level, wealth index and employment status are positively correlated with modern contraception use in Kenya. In addition, the results show that contraceptive use in Kenya has improved over the years even by background factors of women. With regards to age, results indicate that while holding other factors constant, women in the 35-39 age group were 4.204, 3.573 and 3.667 times more likely to use than the 15-19 age group. However, the odds of this group showed a downward trend from the baseline. The 35-39 age group was closely followed by the 30-34 age group who had odds of 3.308, 3.909 and 4.059 more likely to use than the 15-19 age group; registering a positive trend with regards to odds of use.

According to the results, women who were married or living with a partner, divorced or separated at the time of the 2003 survey were more likely to use contraceptives in reference to those who were never in a union. In the 2008/09 survey, the odds of divorced women using contraceptives had no significant difference with those who were never in a union at adjusted odds of 0.991, while in 2014, those who were never in a union had the lowest odds in terms of using contraceptives than any other marital status categories.

As far as education is concerned, women with higher education were 7.991, 6.623 and 4.434 times more likely to use than women without education. The odds of use showed a positive trend from the baseline although inequalities in use still exist. With regards to wealth index, results of the adjusted odds show that in the first two surveys, women in the richest category were 3.163 and 2.716 times more likely to use than the poorest category. However, in the 2014 survey, women in the middle category were 2.338 times more likely to use than the reference group making them the highest users. The results are a confirmation that even though the use has improved from the baseline to the 2014 survey, inequalities in use among the different categories of wealth still exists.

With regards to employment status, results showed that working women were 1.605, 1.559 and 1.849 times more likely to use modern contraceptives than women who were not employed. While in the 2014 survey the odds improved compared to those of the previous surveys, inequalities in use by employment status still linger.

Keeping other community-level factors constant, in the 2003 survey, women in Central and Eastern provinces were significantly more likely, at 2.206 and 1.707 times respectively, to use contraceptives with reference to those in Nairobi province. These odds gradually reduced over the years to 1.494 times more for Central and 0.649 times for Eastern province in 2014. Just as in logistic regression analysis, the latest survey shows insignificant differences between Nairobi, Nyanza and Western regions. Inequalities in use by regions showed a widened coverage gaps in all the three surveys.

According to the results, women who lived in urban areas during the 2003 KDHS survey were more likely to use contraceptive than those who lived in rural areas with an adjusted odds ratio of 0.611. These odds increased to 0.775 in the 2014 survey. The results showed a positive trend from the baseline, but still, inequalities in use are existing.

Contraceptive use was analysed by family planning programme factors i.e. the media through which information about family planning was relayed to the masses, a few months before the surveys. Women who heard about family planning on the radio a few months before the 2008/09 survey were 2.662 times more likely to use contraceptive than those who had not heard. In the 2014 survey, the odds reduced to 2.447 times. A similar trend was observed for those who heard about family planning on TV. They were 1.485 times, and

1.231 times more likely to use contraceptives than those who did not hear about family planning on TV in 2008/09 and 2014 respectively.

Women who heard about family planning in a newspaper/magazine were 0.903 and 0.946 times more likely to use contraceptives than those who did not learn about family planning through this media in 2008/09 and 2014 surveys respectively. However, the odds were not significant (P>0.05). The 2003 survey did not capture information on the selected family planning programme factors (*See Table 4.4*).

The results of this study indicate that when tracking the progress towards Universal Health Coverage (UHC), development programmes such as the national family planning programme need to put emphasis not only on increasing the proportion of the population using modern contraceptive methods while setting new contraceptive use target once previous ones are achieved but also on increasing the service coverage.

With regards to evaluating family planning programmes, the selection of indicators should consider achieving UHC. Specifically, these indicators should be able to assess the coverage gap of the national family planning programme over time. Further, the selected indicators should be able to measure the coverage gap both in the general and disadvantaged populations. Lastly, the indicators should be able to be disaggregated by key dimensions of inequality such as by wealth quantile, by education level, employment status, place of residence, region and by age.

Study variables	KDHS 2003	KDHS 2008/09	KDHS 2014
	Exp(B)	Exp(B)	Exp(B)
Individual level factors		1	l
Age			
15-19 (reference)			
20-24	1.723*	2.305*	3.112*
25-29	2.873*	3.072*	3.914*
30-34	3.308*	3.909*	4.059*
35-39	4.204*	3.573*	3.667*
40-44	4.178*	3.409*	3.02*
45-49	2.907*	2.443*	1.954*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	17.5	9.9	14.1
95% CI, P value 0.000			
Education			
No education (reference)			
Primary	4.137*	4.676*	4.927*
Secondary	5.894*	6.121*	5.312*
Higher	7.991*	6.623*	4.434*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	8.3	4.4	2.3
95% CI, P value 0.000			
Wealth index			
Poorest (reference)			
Poorer	1.901*	1.898*	1.838*
Middle	2.752*	2.459*	2.338*
Richer	3.256*	2.735*	2.193*
Richest	3.163*	2.716*	2.15*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	11	7.7	5.3
95% CI, P value 0.000			
Employment Status			
Not working (reference)			
Working	1.605*	1.559*	1.849*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	23.2	21.9	29.79
95% CI, P value 0.000			

Table 4.4: Adjusted odds ratios for contraceptive use among fecund women

Marital Status			
Never in union (reference)			
Married	5.212*	4.849*	5.069*
Living with partner	4.733*	5.884*	5.805*
Widowed	1.342	1.752	1.691
Divorced	1.748	1.003	1.717
Separated	2.442*	1.975*	2.293*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	26.6	35.4	22.5
95% CI, P value <0.000			
Factors at the community level			
Region			
Nairobi (reference)			
Central	2.206*	1.734*	1.494*
Coast	0.674*	0.657*	0.649*
Eastern	1.707	1.119	1.126
Nyanza	0.784	0.884	1.08
Rift Valley	0.949	0.82	0.833
Western	0.926	0.902	1.102
North Eastern	0.006*	0.049*	0.039*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	68.2	58.8	56.2
95% CI, P value 0.000			
Place of residence			
Rural (reference)			
Urban	0.611*	0.672*	0.775*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	24.15	19.6	11.43
95% CI, P value 0.000			

Family Planning Programme factors			
Heard about FP on Radio			
No (Reference)			
Yes	na	2.662*	2.447*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	na	45.37	41.96
95% CI, P value 0.000			
Heard about FP on TV			
No (reference)			
Yes	na	1.485*	1.231*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	na	19.53	10.36
95% CI, P value 0.000			
Heard about FP on Newspaper/Magazine No (reference)			
Yes	na	0.903*	0.946*
Adjusted Coverage gap %	na	5.11	2.77
95% CI, P value 0.000			

*Significant in all the three surveys na: Not applicable

CHAPTER FIVE SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the summary, the conclusion, the recommendations of the study and a recommendation for further research.

5.2 Summary of Findings

The overall objective of this study was to assess the performance of the national family planning programme by using the trends of background characteristics of modern contraceptive use among women in Kenya; to estimate the coverage gap of socio-economic factors and by region. Data used in the study was derived from the Demographic Health Survey (DHS) website. The datasets used were of Kenya Demographic and Health Survey (KDHS) 2003 which acted as the baseline for the assessment, Kenya Demographic and Health Survey (KDHS) 2008-09 which was used as the mid-line and Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2014 for the end-line. The extent to which the coverage gap was widening or narrowing was used to conclude how the national family planning programme performed. The methods that were deployed during analysis were Chi-square and Cross tabulation for primary analysis; and multilevel logistic regression for further analysis. The outcome variable was modern contraceptive use while the independent variables were: age, education, employment status, wealth index, marital status, region and place of residence. The variable woman's knowledge of contraception and method mix was used as proxy variables to measure the family planning programme related efforts.

This study established that modern contraceptive use as advocated by the national family planning programme was positive. The proportion of women using contraceptives has significantly increased from 2003 to the 2014 survey. The most preferred contraceptive methods were the modern ones such as injections and pills; their use having increased over the years. These contraceptives were mostly sourced from the government clinics or pharmacies while a considerable number from private clinics. The results from two surveys (2008/09 and 2014) showed that radio stations are the most effective method of creating awareness on contraceptives compared to other methods.

Individual-level and community-level factors were found to influence modern contraceptive use in women in Kenya significantly. With regards to community-level factors such as place of residence and region, women living in urban areas were more likely to use modern contraceptives than their rural counterparts. With regards to region, variations in modern contraceptive use by region still linger. For example, it was established that women from former Central province were more likely to use modern contraceptives with women from North Eastern being the least likely to use. Also, individual-level factors such as age, education level, wealth index, marital status and employment status of women influence their modern contraceptive use. For example, with regards to education, a woman with higher education are more likely to use modern contraceptives than those whose education is lower. This also holds for working women who had higher odds of using.

With regards to the coverage gap, evidence from this study shows it's narrowing down. However, inequalities in use remain. Specifically, once other factors are controlled for, the largest gap occur in the indicator geographic residence and the most affected regions are those in the North Eastern part of Kenya followed by the Cost regions respectively. The programme therefore needs to expand regional access especially in the North Eastern part.

5.3 Conclusion

Even though the national family planning programme efforts have improved the use of family planning from the baseline to the 2014 survey, inequalities in use remain. While evidence in the study suggests that the inequalities are narrowing down, the national family planning programme has not achieved that required level of access that should make it even more effective. If the current coverage gaps are not narrowed down, the realization of target 3.7 of SDG number 3 will be an uphill task for the programme managers.

In monitoring and evaluation, indicators are central to its success. Measurements of the national family planning programme impact should not only focus on improving the use of family planning while reducing the fertility levels, but also focus on improving the inequalities in the use of family planning. Therefore, the national family planning programme should develop indicators that measure the trends in inequality in use by background factors such as age, education level, employment status, marital status, region and place of residence as a way of estimating the coverage gap of the programme; thus enabling the programme managers to ascertain level of effectiveness.

5.4 Recommendations

Evidence from this study revealed that inequalities in use of family planning exist. In this regard, the following recommendation was made:

i. In this era of Sustainable Development Goals, development programme efforts are focused on achieving the targets set for achieving these goals. If the national FP programme is to meaningfully achieve target 3.7 and 3.8 of SDG number 3 that seek to realise universal access to reproductive health services such as family planning by

the year 2030, then the programme managers need to develop and use tracer indicators that measure the extent to which the programme is narrowing down inequalities in use gaps by examining their trends.

5.5 Recommendations for further research

• Because this study focused on the trends of inequalities in use of family planning by background factors of fecund women in Kenya, other studies could focus on the estimating the trends of inequalities in use of family planning by regions.

REFERENCES

Adebowale, S. A., Adedini, S. A., Ibisomi, L. D. & Palamuleni, M. E., 2014. Differential influence of wealth index on modern contraceptive use and fertility: evidence from Malawian women. *BMC Women's Health*, 14(40), pp. 1472-6874.

Adrienne, A. & Elizabeth, F., 2014. ENGAGING FAITH LEADERS IN FAMILY PLANNING: A Review of the Literature plus Resources. s.l.:World Vision US.

APHRC, 2013. Rural Community-Based Family Planning Project of Western Kenya: Demonstration Phase 2008-2009, Nairobi: APHRC.

Angeles, G., Guilkey, D. K. & Mroz, T. A., 2004. *The Effects of Education and Family Planning Programmes on Fertility in Indonesia*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina.

Anguko, A. A., 2014. DETERMINANTS OF CONTRACEPTIVE USE WOMEN IN NORTHEASTERN KENYA., Nairobi: University of Nairobi, Institute of Tropical and Infectious Diseases.

Antenane, K., 2002. Attitudes towards family planning and causes for anti-use by women with an unmet need for family planning in Ethiopia, Calverton, Maryland USA: ORC Macro.

Asiimwe, J. B., Ndugga, P., Mushomi, J. & Ntozi, J. P. M., 2014. *Factors associated with modern contraceptive use among young and older women in Uganda; a comparative analysis,* Kampala: BMC Public Health.

Amo-Adjei, J., Mutua, M., Athero, S., Izugbara, C., & Ezeh, A. (2017). Improving the provision and adoption of family planning services: insight from the "the Reversing Fertility Decline in Western Kenya". *BMC Research Notes*, 1-5.

Ana, D.-R. V. (2000). *Multilevel Analysis in Public Health Research*. New York: Columbia University.

Bertrand, J. T. & Lakssir, A., 1997. *Quantitative Methods of Evaluating Family Planning Programmes.* Costa Rica, The Evaluation Project.

Bertrand, J. T., Janet, R., Sullivan, T. M. & James, S., 2000. Skewed Method Mix: A performance Test of Family Planning Programmes, Chapel Hill: MEASURE Evaluation.

Bertrand, J. T., Magnani, R. J., & Rutenberg, N. (September, 1996). *EVALUATING FAMILY PLANNING ProgrammeS: With Adaptations For Reproductive Health.* Washington D.C., United States: The EVALUATION Project.

Bertrand, J. T., Mangani, R. J., & Rutenberg, N. (1994). *HANDBOOK OF INDICATORS FOR FAMILY PLANNING Programme EVALUATION*. Washington: The Evaluation Project.

Bongaarts, J., 1978. Framework for the analysis of Proximate Determinants of Fertility. *Population and Development Review*, 4(1), pp. 105-132.

Bruijn, B. D., 2006. *Fertility: Theories, Frameworks, Models, Concepts,* Netherlands: Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute.

Bloom, S. S. (2008). *Violence Against Women and Girls: A Compendium of Monitoring and Evaluation Indicators*. Chapel Hill, North Carolina: MEASURE Evaluation.

Bewick, V., Cheek, L., & Ball, J. (2005). Statistical review 14: Logistic regression. *Critical Care (London, England)*, 112-118.

Charles, F. W. & Akinrinola, B., 2001. *The Contraception-Fertility Link in Sub-Saharan Africa and in Other Developing Countries: DHS Analytical Studies No. 4*, Calverton, Maryland USA: MEASURE DHS+ Project.

Charles, F. W., Kristin, B. & Dawn, K., 2013. *Indicators of Trends in Fertility in Sub-Saharan Africa. DHS Analytical Studies No. 34*, ICF International: Calverton, Maryland, USA.

Chitereka, J. & Busiku, N., 2010. *DETERMINANTS OF UNMET NEED FOR FAMILY*, Liverpool: Liverpool Associates in Tropical Health.

CBS et.al. (2004). Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2003. Nairobi: CBS.

CBS. (1996). *Trends in Demographic, Family Planning, and Health Indicators in Indonesia 1961-1994*. Jakarta, Indonesia: Central Bureau of Statistics Jakarta, Indonesia.

Chachu, D. (2019). Implentation of a project-based comprehensive monitoring and evaluation strategy in Ghana and Cote d Ivoire: Key Lessons. *African Evaluation Journal*, 1-7.

Dawit, A., 2013. *RISK OF FIRST CONTRACEPTION AMONG ETHIOPIAN WOMEN*, Stockholm: Stockholm University.

Desai, J. & Tarozzi, A., 2008. *Microcredit Family Planning and Contraceptive Behaviour: Facts from a field study in Ethiopia (preliminary draft)*. Addis Ababa: David and Lucile Packard Foundation.

Dias, J. G. & Oliveira, I. T. d., 2015. *Multilevel Effects of Wealth on Women's Contraceptive Use in Mozambique*, Mozambique: PLoS ONE.

DHS. (2019, 9 13). *The Demographic and Health Surveys*. Retrieved from The DHS Programme: https://dhsProgramme.com/

Djalalinia, S., Owlia, P., Malekafzali, H., & Ghanei, M. (2014). Project Monitoring and Evaluation: An Enhancing Methods for Health Research System Management. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 505-509.

Eric, E. S., Jane, T. B. & Tara, M., 2007. Changes in Contraceptive Method Mix In Developing Countries. *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 33(3), p. 117–123.

Essa, A. J. (2014). Monitoring and Evaluation. International Journal of Agriculture Extension, 13-19.

Eini, Z. H. (2005). *EVALUATION OF THE IMPACT OF FAMILY PLANNING PROGRAMMES ON FERTILTY: A CASE STUDY ON EAST AZERBAIJAN PROVINCE (IRAN)-2000.* France: General Population Conference of the International Union for the Scientific Study of Population.

Eyasu, A. M. (2015). Multilevel modeling of determinants of fertility status of married women in Ethiopia. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *1*, 19-25.

Fotso, J. C. et al., 2013. Closing the coverage gap in contraception use in urban Kenya: are family planning services reaching the urban poor?. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, pp. 12-71.

Family Planning 2020. (2016). *Kenya Commitment Maker Since 2012*. Retrieved 11 21, 2016, from http://www.familyplanning2020.org/entities/77

FP2020. (2019, 9 6). *Kenya Commitment Makers Since 2012*. Retrieved from Family Planning 2020: www.familyplanning2020.org/kenya

FP2020. (2019, 9 13). *Monitoring and Evaluation*. Retrieved from Family Planning 2020: <u>http://www.familyplanning2020.org/search?keys=Monitoring+and+evaluation</u>

Gertler, P. J. et al., 2011. Impact Evaluation In Practice. Washington DC: The World Bank.

Gribble, J. & Voss, M.-L., 2009. *Family Planning and Economic Well-Being: Evidence from Bangladesh*. Washington DC: Population Reference Bureau.

Gupta, M. D., 2013. *Women's Empowerment and Fertility: Policy Lessons*, Maryland, United States of America: University of Maryland.

Haaga, J., 1985. The Current State of Family Planning Programme Evaluation. Santa Monica: USAID.

Heather, M. et al., 2013. What is the effect of contraceptive methods and a combination of contraceptive methods on contraceptive prevalence, unmet need for family planning, and unwanted and accidental pregnancy? An overview of systematic reviews, London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Hennink, M. & Clements, S., 2004. *IMPACT OF FRANCHISED FAMILY PLANNING CLINICS IN URBAN POOR AREAS IN PAKISTAN*. Southampton: University of Southampton.

Hermalin, A. I., 2003. *Evaluation of the effcts of family planning: Evolution of techniques*. San Jose, University of Costa Rica.

Hermalin, A., 1997. *Context of Family Planning Evaluation: An Evolutionary Technique*. Chapel Hill: THE EVALUATION PROJECT.

Hogan, D., Stevens, G., Hosseinpoor, A., & Boerma, J. (2017). *Monitoring universal health coverage under the Sustainable Development Goals: development and benchmark information for an index of basic health services*. Mexico: Lacent Global Heath.

Hosmer, D., & Lemeshow, S. (2000). Applied logistic regression (2nd ed.). New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons Inc.

Islam, M. M., Mamun, A. A. & Bairagi, R., 1998. *Fertility and Its Proximate Determinants in Bangladesh: Evidence from the 1993/94 Demographic and Health Survey*. Dhaka: International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research.

IUCN. (2008). Participatory Monitoring and Evaluation Guidelines. Gland: IUCN.

Jesman, C., 2013. Trends and comparisons of Contraceptive Use among Married Women in Malawi: facts from 2000-2010 Malawi Demographic and Health Surveys. DHS Working papers. Calverton, Maryland, USA: ICF International.

Justin, S. W. & Ilene, S. S., 2007. *Can family planning outreach bridge the urban-rural divide in Zambia?*, Chapel Hill: MEASURE Evaluation project.

Joshi, S. (2007). Family Planning as an Investment in Development: Evaluation of the implications of a Programme Consequences in Matlab, Bangladesh. New Haven: ECONOMIC GROWTH CENTER YALE UNIVERSITY.

Jamaal, N. (2018). Effects of Participatory monitoring and assessment on project performance at Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, Mombasa Kenya. *International Academic Journal of Information Sciences and Project Management*, 1-15.

KNBS, et al., 2010. *Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2008-2009*, Calverton, Maryland: KNBS and ICF Macro..

KNBS, et al., 2015. Demographic and Health Survey Key Indicators 2014, Nairobi: KNBS

Key, J. P., 1997. *MODULE S7 - CHI SQUARE*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.okstate.edu/ag/agedcm4h/academic/aged5980a/5980/newpage28.htm</u> [Accessed 30 July 2015].

Kiersten, J., Noureddine, A. & Shea, O. R., 2011. *Changes in the Direct and Indirect Determinants of Fertility in Sub-Saharan Africa. DHS Analytical Studies No. 23*, Calverton, Maryland: ICF Macro.

Kioko, D. K., 2012. Effect of Husband's Education Attainment on Wife's Contraceptive Use in Kenya. (Unpublished), Nairobi: University of Nairobi.

K4HEALTH. (2019, 9 1). *Key Family Planning Impact Indicator and Their Definitions*. Retrieved from Knowledge For Health: https://www.k4health.org/toolkits/fp-trm/key-family-planning-impact-indicators-and-their-definitions

K4HEALTH. (2019, 9 2). *Monitoring and Evaluation*. Retrieved from Knowledge For Health: https://www.k4health.org/toolkits/fp-trm/monitoring-and-evaluation

Kenya, Republic. (2007). *THE KENYA VISION 2030: THE POPULAR VERSION*. Nairobi: Government of the Republic of Kenya.

Kimweli, J. M. (2013). The Functions of Monitoring and Assessment procedures for the implementation of Donor Funded Food Security Intervention Projects. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 9-19.

KNBS. (2014). *Demographic and Health Survey*. Nairobi: Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS).

Kirk, D. (1996). Demographic Transition Theory. *Population Studies*, 361-387

Lamhauge, N., Lanzi, E., & Agrawala, S. (2013). The Use of indicators for monitoring and evaluation adaptation: lessons from development cooperation agencies. *Climate and Development*, 229-241.

Lee, R. (2003). The Demographic Transition: Three Centuries of Fundamental Change. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 167-190.

Lehr, C. S. (2009). Evidence on the demographic transition. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 871-887.

Lesthaeghe, R. (2010). The Unfolding Tale of the Second Demographic Transition. *Population and Development Review*, 211-251.

Lutz, W., & Qiang, R. (2002). Determinants of human population growth. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society*, 1197–1210.

Liket, K. C., Rey-Garcia, M. & Maas, K. E. H., 2014. Why Aren't Evaluations Working and What to do about it: A Framework For Negotiating Meaninful Evaluation in Nonprofit. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 35(2), pp. 171-188.

Long, J. (1997). *Regression models for categorical and limited dependent variables*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Magadi, M. A. & Curtis, S. L., 2013. *Trends and Determinants of Contraceptive Method Choice in Kenya*, Nairobi: African Population and Health Research.

Mai, D. & David, H., 2011. *Relationships between Maternal Health Care and Postpartum Modern Contraceptive Use in Kenya and Zambia*, Chapel Hill: MEASURE Evaluation PRH.

Majumder, N. & Ram, F., 2015. *Explaining the Role of Proximate Determinants on Fertility Decline among Poor and Non-Poor in Asian Countries*. Mumbai, India: International Institute for Population Sciences.

Malalu, P. K., Alfred, K., Too, R. & Chirchir, A., 2014. Determinants of use of the use of modern family planning methods: Baringo North District, Kenya. *Science Journal of Public Health*, Volume Vol. 2, No 5, pp. 424-430.

Martin, E. P., 2014. *Demographic and Socio-economic Factors Affecting Contraceptive Use in Malawi*, Mmabatho: North West University.

Maura, G., 2012. Family Planning Is a Crucial Investment for Kenya's Health and Development. [Online]

Available at: <u>http://www.prb.org/Publications/Articles/2012/kenya-family-planning.aspx</u> [Accessed 27 June 2015].

Ministry of Health, 2012. *National Family Planning: Costed Implementation Plan. 2012-2016.*, Nairobi: Division of Reproductive Health.

Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation; Ministry of Medical Services. (2009). *National Reproductive Health Strategy 2009-2015*. Nairobi: Republic of Kenya.

Mishra, M. K., 2011. *Ethnic Disparities in Contraceptive Use and Effects on the Family Planning Programme in Nepal.* Lalitpur, Bagmati, Nepal: Department of Social Science, NIMS College.

Murungaru, K., Milton, N. & Gathari, N., 2013. Regional variations in contraceptive use in Kenya: comparison of Nyanza, Coast and Central Provinces. *African Population Studies*, 27(1).

Maendo, D., James, R., & Kamau, L. (2018). Effect of Project Monitoring and Evaluation on Performance of Road Infrastructure Projects Constructed by Local Firms in Kenya. *International Journal of Economics, Business and Management Research*, 317-328.

MEASURE Evaluation. (2019, 9 6). Contraceptive Prevalence Rate (CPR). Retrieved from FamilyPlanningandReproductiveHealthIndicatorsDatabase:https://www.measureevaluation.org/prh/rh_indicators/family-planning/fp/cpr

MEASURE Evaluation. (2019, 9 5). *Family Planning and Reproductive Health Indicators Database*. Retrieved from MEASURE Evaluation: https://measureevaluation.org/prh/rh_indicators/indicator-summary

MEASURE Evaluation. (2019, 9 2). Total Fertility Rate (TFR). Retrieved from Family Planning and
ReproductiveIndicatorsDatabase:https://www.measureevaluation.org/prh/rh_indicators/family-planning/fertility/total-fertility-rate

MEASURE Evaluation. (2019, 9 4). Unmet Neet for Family Planning. Retrieved from Family Planning and Reproductive Health Indicator Database: https://www.measureevaluation.org/prh/rh_indicators/family-planning/fp/unmet-need-for-family-planning

Malthus, T. R. (1803). An Essay on the Principle of Population. In *CLASSIC READINGS IN ECONOMICS* (pp. 194-195). London: J.M. Dent.

Menard, S. (2001). *Applied logistic regression analysis (quantitative applications in the social sciences)(2nd ed)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Nielsen, R. W. (2016). Demographic Transition Theory and Its link To The Historical Economic Growth. *Economics and Political Economy*, 32-49.

Naswa, P., Traerup, S., Bouroncle, C., Medellin, C., Imbach, P., Louman, B., & Spensley, J. (2015). *Good Practice in the Design and Implementation of National Monitoring Systems for Adaptation to Climate Change*. Denmark: Climate Technology Centre.

Ngethe, P. N. (2014, May). *Family Planning in Kenya: A Review of National and District Policies and Budgets.* Retrieved from Deutsche Stiftung Weltbevoelkerung (DSW): https://www.dsw.org/uploads/tx_aedswpublication/family-planning-kenya_update.pdf

Niyivuga, B., Alfred, O., & Tuyishime, D. (2019). Monitoring and Evaluation Practices and Academic Staff Motivation: Implications in Higher Education Within Rwandan Context. *SAGE Open*, 1-9.

Ojakaa, D., 2008. Trends and Determinants of Unmet Need for Family Planning in Kenya., Nairobi: MEASURE DHS.

Okech, T. C., 2012. Kenya's Programme Response to the Use of Family Planning Services: Which Way to Go?. *IOSR Journal of Pharmacy (IOSRPHR)*, Vol. 2, (Issue 4), pp. 97-107.

Pasanen, T., & Shaxson, L. (2016). HOW TO DESIGN A MONITORING AND EVALUATION FRAMEWORK FOR A POLICY RESEARCH PROJECT. A Methods Lab Publication. London: Overseas Development Institute.

Perrin, B. (April, 2012, 97). *Linking Monitoring and Evaluation With Impact Evaluation*. Retrieved from InterAction: <u>https://www.interaction.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Linking-Monitoring-and-Evaluation-to-Impact-Evaluation.pdf</u>

Pourhoseingholi, M. A., Baghestani, A. R., & Vahedi, M. (2012). How to mitigate confounding effects in statistical analysis. *Gastroenterology and Hepatology From Bed to Bench*, 5(2), 79-83.

Reher, D. S., 2004. The Demographic Transition Revisited as a Global Process. *POPULATION*, *SPACE AND PLACE*, Volume 10, p. 19–41.

Remare, R. E. & Catherine, K., 2012. *Physical access to health facilities and contraceptive use in Kenya: Evidence from the 2008-2009 Kenya Demographic and Health Survey*, Nairobi: African Population and Health Research Center.

Ross, J., Blangero, J., Goldstein, M. & Schuler, S., 1986. *Proximate Determinants of Fertility in The Kathmandu Valley, Nepal: An Anthropological Case Study.* Claveland, Ohio, USA: Western Reserve University.

Rubel, A., 2013. The Effects of Family Planning Interventions on Women's Empowerment: Evidence from Rural Bangladesh. s.l.:York University.

Reproductive and Maternal Health Services Unit. (2016). *The National Family Planning Guidelines* for Service Providers-5th Edition: Updated to reflect the 2015 Medical Eligibility Criteria of the World Health Organisation. Nairobi: Ministry of Health.

Rioux, J. (2011). Monitoring and Evaluation Plan: Transboundary Agro-Ecosystem Management Project in Kagera Basin: Rwanda, Burundi, Uganda and Tanzania. Kigali: FAO.

Saira, A., 2014. *Religious Affiliation and Contraceptive use in Kenya*, JOHANNESBURG: UNIVERSITY OF THE WITWATERSRAND.

Schultz, T. P., 2009. *How Does Family Planning Promote Development? : Evidence from a Social Experiment in Matlab, Bangladesh, 1977 – 1996, Detroit: Yale University.*

Sharad, K. S., K.C, N. P. & Dhruba, R. G., 2011. Ethnic differentials of the impact of the Family Planning Programme on contraceptive use in Nepal. *Demographic Research*, 25(27), pp. 837-868.

Stephen A., A., Sunday A., A., Latifat D., I. & Martin E., P., 2014. Differential effect of wealth quintile on modern contraceptive use and fertility: evidence from Malawian women. *BMC Women's Health*, pp. 14-40.

Susan, B. K., 2013. UPTAKE OF MODERN CONTRACEPTION AMONG YOUTHS (15-24) AT COMMUNITY LEVEL IN BUSIA DISTRICT, UGANDA, Kampala: MakSPH-CDC.

Susheela, S., E., D. J. & S., A. L., 2014. Adding It Up: The Costs and Benefits of Investing in Sexual and Reproductive Health 2014., New York: Guttmacher Institute.

Sherri, H., Hatt, L., Leegwater, A., El-Khoury, M., & Wong, W. (2012). *Indicators for Measuring Universal Health Coverage: A Five-County Analysis (DRAFT)*. Bethesda, MD: Health Systems 20/20 project, Abt Associates Inc.

Sustainable Development Goals. (2019, 9 6). Sustainable Development Goal 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages. Retrieved from Progress of Goal 3 in 2019: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg3

Teitelbaum, M. S., 1975. Relevance of Demographic Transition Theory for Developing Countries. *American Association for the Advancement of Science*, 188(4187), pp. 420-425.

Trochim, W. M., 2006. *Descriptive Statistics*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/statdesc.php</u> [Accessed 30 July 2015].

Tsui, A. O. & Hermalin, A. I., 1997. *Improving the Effectiveness of Family Planning Programmes: Measurment Needs and Issues (DRAFT)*. Costa, Rica: EVALUATION Seminar on Methods for Evaluating Family Planning Programmes. Tumlinson, K. et al., 2013. *Partner Communication, Discordant Fertility Goals, and Contraceptive Use in Urban Kenya*, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, USA: University of North Carolina ,.

Tumlinson, K., Speizer, I. S., Archer, L. H. & Behetsa, F., 2013. Simulated clients reveal factors that may limit contraceptive use in Kisumu, Kenya. *Glob Health Sci Pract*, 1(3), pp. 407-416.

Tuoane, M., Diamond, I. & Madise, N., 2003. Use of Family Planning in Lesotho: The Importance of Quality of Care and Access. *African Population Studies*, 18(2), pp. 105-132.

The World Bank. (2016, 9 2). *Demographic and Health Survey 2014*. Retrieved from World Bank Group: https://microdata.worldbank.org/index.php/catalog/2544,

Tuckermann, B. (2007). Challenges and Key Success factors to integrating learning and change in monitoring and evaluation of development projects: Case Study of an urban agriculture project in eastern Cuba. *Knowledge Management for Development Journal*, 21-30.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Office of the Director, Office of Strategy and Innovation., 2011. *Introduction to Public Health Programme Assessment. A self-Study Guide.*. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

UNAIDS. (2010). AN INTRODUCTION TO INDICATORS. Geneva: UNAIDS.

UNDP. (2009). *Handbook on Planning Monitoring and Evaluating For Development Results*. New York, USA: United Nations Development Programme.

UNDP. (2019, 9 5). *Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)*. Retrieved from United Nations Development Programme: https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/sustainable-development-goals.html

UNFPA. (2019, 9 6). *International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD)*. Retrieved from United Nations Population Fund: https://www.unfpa.org/icpd

United Nations. (2014). *Report of the Open Working Group of the General Assembly on Sustainable Development Goals*. Nairobi: Sixty-Eighth Session of United Nations General Assembly.

Wambui, T., 2012. Perceptions of family planning and sexually transmitted infections among lowincome men in Western Kenya, Sweden: Linköping Studies in Health Sciences.

Westoff, C. F., Kristin, B. & Dawn, K., 2013. *Indicators of Trends in Fertility in Sub-Saharan Africa*. *DHS Analytical studies 34*, Calverton, Maryland, USA: ICF International.

World Health Organization, 2006. Family planning: the unfinished agenda. *Sexual Reproductive Health*, Volume 3, p. 3.

World Health Organization, 2010. Sexual and Reproductive Health Package of Interventions for Family Planning, Safe Abortion Care, Newborn Health. [Online] Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2010/WHO_FCH_10.06_eng.pdf. [Accessed 29 May 2015].

WHO. (2015). Tracking Universal Health Coverage: First Global Monitoring Report. Geneva: WHO.

WHO. (2019, 9 8). *Global Health Observatory (GHO) data*. Retrieved from World Health Organisation: https://www.who.int/gho/mdg/goals_targets/en/

WHO. (2019, 9 4). Sustainable Development Goal Three: Ensure helthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages. Retrieved from Sustainable Development Goals Targets: https://www.who.int/sdg/targets/en/

WHO. (2019, 9 7). *The goals within a goal: Health targets for SDG 3*. Retrieved from Sustainable Development Goals: https://www.who.int/sdg/targets/en/

WHO and World Bank. (2017). *Tracking Universal Health Coverage: 2017 global monitoring report*. Geneva: WHO.

WHO. (2017). National health inequality monitoring: a step-by-step manual. Geneva: WHO.

WHO. (2017). World Health Statistics 2017: Monitoring health for the SDGs. Geneva: WHO.

Warf, B. (2010). Demographic Transition. Encyclopedia of Geography, 708-711.

Yoo, S. H., 2014. Educational differentials in cohort fertility during the fertility transition in South Korea. *Demographic Research*, 30(53), pp. 1463-1494.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Figure 1.1: Structure of the National Family Planning Programme

